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    INTRODUCTION




    When Charles de Gaulle boarded the small plane that took him from war-torn France to London on 17 June 1940, even he could not have foreseen the way in which he was launching himself on to the world stage. He was a little-known figure, a recently promoted two-star general acting in opposition to his country’s legal government in the midst of catastrophic defeat. But that flight marked the start of a trajectory which would see him save his country twice and found a republic that endures to this day, marking him out as a truly unique figure fulfilling an intense sense of manifest destiny.




    He outlasted his great wartime contemporaries – Roosevelt and Stalin were both dead and Churchill in retirement when he returned to power in 1958 at the age of sixty-eight to rule France for another ten years. None had quite the same self-awareness and sense of mission, epitomised in the way he spoke of himself in the third person. ‘When de Gaulle the man looks at de Gaulle the historic figure, he understands that the historic de Gaulle has to act as is expected of him,’ he said. His fate was to be France’s republican monarch, answering to a calling far higher than everyday politics and acting on a plane of his own. When asked if he agreed to a proposal, he replied: ‘I do not agree, I decide yes or no.’




    His life was more dangerous than that of most other leaders; he fought in two major wars and was the target of up to two dozen assassination attempts as President. But he declined to take precautions. In part at least, his fearlessness stemmed from his sense of the very special role he had to play. Explaining his refusal to take cover when German shells were falling around him in 1944, he told an official: ‘I have a providential mission to fulfil. I think nothing will happen to me. If it does, I will have been mistaken.’1




    A study of the ten words used most frequently in his speeches and broadcasts between 1958 and 1965 showed ‘France’ or ‘the country’ accounting for 55 per cent. The basic question, he wrote in a letter in 1963, was ‘yes or no, should France be France?’ His vision was pitched so high that the French were bound to disappoint him all too frequently. For de Gaulle, life was a constant struggle, and he thought his compatriots all too prone to opt for an easy existence or compromise, leading him to brand them as ‘veaux’ – literally calves but best rendered into English as ‘sheep’.




    His identification with France was so intense that, in his mind, the ‘historic’ de Gaulle and the country he saw himself ‘carrying on my shoulders’ became one. As President, he spoke of a murmur rising around him to urge the country on, for all the world like the supernatural voices that drove Joan of Arc. When he plunged into crowds, it was more than political populism; he was exercising his human link with the nation, emerging, as the journalist Pierre Viansson-Ponté put it, with his eyes ‘shining with pleasure, happy to be alive’ even if the police had arrested would-be assassins on his path. For Richard Nixon, an acute admirer, he was the builder of a cathedral – France – and saw his nation as ‘a sort of middle kingdom [for which] the rest of the world had meaning only if it affected France’.2




    This identification went hand in hand with his deep belief that the nation state, not ideology or alliances, was the bedrock on which everything rested – he described himself as a ‘theologian’ in the matter. Sovereign independence was all; treaties were like young girls and roses; they ‘last for as long as they last’. Through the first seven decades of the twentieth century, his life was intimately entwined with the country of which he wrote that he had ‘a certain idea’.3 In his twenties, he fought in the trenches of the First World War. In the 1930s, he waged a lonely battle to enable his country to resist Hitler’s Germany. Thereafter, he raised the flag of resistance in 1940, headed the post-war government and, after a dozen years out of power, founded the Fifth Republic in 1958, staving off the very real prospect of civil war, freeing France from the quagmire of the war in Algeria and establishing a stable regime that has been adopted by Left and Right alike – all achieved by an extraordinary mixture of vision, stubbornness, chutzpah, political acumen and bluff.




    France’s characteristics and contradictions have been much rehearsed, its pride in itself, its intransigence, its historical and cultural heritage and its quasi-religious belief in the state alongside its charm, diplomatic skill and humanism. Those traits and contradictions are all to be found in the man whose personalisation of patriotism could border on the irrational.




    Profoundly attached to traditional values inherited from his royalist, deeply religious parents, he referred to himself as the only revolutionary in France and deplored the way in which his compatriots called for progress but hoped that nothing would really change. Depicted by opponents as a man of the Right, he dreamed of a middle way between capitalism and Communism, and presided over a vast expansion of the public sector in his first years in government after the Liberation of 1944. A prophet of modernisation, from his advocacy of tank warfare in the 1930s to his trumpeting of the Caravelle airliner and France’s motorways in the 1960s, he disliked using the telephone – the one installed at his country home was in a cubbyhole under the stairs, forcing him to bend over when he used it. He painstakingly wrote his speeches and memoirs by hand with a black fountain pen, endlessly correcting his angular script which only his daughter Élisabeth was able to read easily. As the writer and ardent Gaullist André Malraux put it, the General was a man from the day before yesterday and the day after tomorrow.4




    He expounded grand principles and liked to appear as a leader set on a single, unwavering course, but he frequently flew trial balloons before making up his mind and on some major issues, such as Algeria, felt his way from month to month. A ruthless, calculating politician, he was a complete realist in all things, remorselessly applying cold logic; he explained his adherence to the republican democracy by his belief that it was the system to which the French were most attached and which therefore gave him the best chance of achieving unity, even if he only ran for national election once, when in his mid-seventies. A strict disciplinarian, he was one of the great rebels of his time. Demanding complete loyalty from those around him, he gave little in return. A statesman should not have friends because he would favour them and overlook their weaknesses, he told one of his ministers in the 1960s.5




    A grand visionary, de Gaulle was also a master of improvisation, of courting danger and springing surprises, making a fetish of secrecy. He saw himself as a high-stakes poker player while mainstream French politicians contented themselves with the café card game of belote. He took a visceral delight in defeating opponents, telling aides during one referendum campaign: ‘I’ll get them. I’ll stick it up their arses.’ If, as Bill Clinton claimed, all great political contests are head games, Charles de Gaulle was a consummate player. He defined a statesman as ‘a man capable of taking risks’. ‘Nobody else would have the nerve to do what I have done,’ he remarked to a minister in 1962.6




    The General was celebrated for his intransigent refusal to bow to others – ‘L’homme qui dit non’ – first in rejecting France’s surrender in 1940, then in his running battles with Roosevelt and Churchill during the Second World War, in standing aloof from France’s powerful political parties after the Liberation and in pursuing an independent foreign policy as he vetoed British membership of the Common Market and fought against US dominance of NATO. A man made for storms and times of great crisis, he quoted approvingly Hamlet’s observation that ‘Rightly to be great is not to stir without great argument’. The US Secretary of State Dean Rusk compared meetings with him to ‘crawling up a mountainside on your knees, opening a little portal at the top, and waiting for the oracle to speak . . . There was never any give and take – de Gaulle gave us pronouncements from on high, but never any real discussion; he was there, he would listen – “je vous écoute” – and would then bid you good-bye.’7




    He was comfortable with power, deploying it with a natural assurance – as a young man he was nicknamed ‘the Constable’ in reference to the senior official who ran the kingdom for the medieval monarch. He would later be compared to Louis XIV, to Bonaparte and to Stalin. During their ten hours of tête-à-tête talks only two months before the General stepped down in 1969, Nixon found him completely at home in the grandeur of the Grand Trianon Palace at Versailles from where, as de Gaulle noted, the Sun King had ruled Europe. ‘He did not try to put on airs but an aura of majesty seemed to envelop him,’ the US President wrote. ‘His performance – and I do not use that word disparagingly – was breathtaking. At times eloquent, at other times coldly pragmatic but at all times articulate . . . he was not always right, but he was always certain.’8




    In public, de Gaulle followed his own advice that leaders should show ‘cold dignity’. His whole life, he remarked, consisted of making people do what they did not want to do. His tragedy, he noted, was that ‘I respect only those who stand up to me, but I find such people intolerable.’ Some detected a deep sadness in him; Churchill found a ‘great capacity for feeling pain’. He harboured intense personal emotions, particularly in his love for his second daughter who suffered from Down’s syndrome; without her, he said, ‘perhaps I should not have done all that I have done’. While he struck many as a man who ‘spoke not of doubts but of certainties’, he could still be prey to internal debate about how to proceed – he was just rather good at covering this up. At regular intervals, however, he declared that his mission was done for and reached out for reassurance from trusted followers, bouncing back when they urged him to persevere, as he had known they would.




    Magisterially aloof in public, the General was a shy man who could become suddenly vulnerable behind the mask he presented to the world. He was clumsy with his hands and increasingly short-sighted as he aged, forced to wear thick-lensed spectacles, which he hated. From his twenties on, he stood apart if only because of his height of 1.93 metres or six foot three inches. ‘We big people, we cannot act like others,’ he told the equally tall Dutch Foreign Minister Josef Luns. ‘We have to give small men a lead.’ As President, he remarked, ‘I’ve always been big Charles with arms that are too long and enormous feet . . . The chairs are always too small.’9




    He was prone to dramatic mood swings, explosions of anger and bouts of self-pity. A psychological analysis suggests that he was what is termed a constructive narcissist and a compulsive neurotic whose personality traits were channelled into achieving the ends he sought, with histrionic episodes and periodic sullen withdrawal when things were going badly. Given the stress he was under, this was hardly abnormal, and he does not seem to fit the manic depressive character loosely attributed to him by some writers.10




    His interests were omnivorous, ranging from nuclear strategy to the breeding habits of snails; ‘he wants to understand everything,’ one of his closest aides, Jacques Foccart, remarked. He was proud but not vain, ready to press his case to the limits but usually knowing just when to stop. For all his grandeur, he was unfailingly courteous, always replying to authors who sent him their books with a word of praise even if the volume was Calcium and Metabolic Bone Illnesses. Never missing Sunday mass, he seemed bored during the services. Deeply attached to military values – he called the army the nation’s ‘backbone’ – he applied the tactics of the battlefield to politics, but despised most generals and faced military revolts.11




    A great teacher from his youth to those around him and then to his nation, the General deployed the French language like a weapon, though he knew the value of silence. Not a seductive speaker, he imposed himself by the force of his words and the character behind them. He rarely told an outright lie, but was masterly in obfuscation and economising with the truth. From time to time, he discarded the heritage of Corneille and Racine to take visitors aback with rough phrases and military slang.




    He was personally frugal and scrupulous. ‘My only enemy, and that of France, has never ceased to be money,’ he told Malraux towards the end of his life. As President, he insisted on paying the telephone and electricity bills for his quarters at the Élysée Palace. His wife, Yvonne, who devoted herself to him, was equally careful about spending and about keeping the proper distance between their personal and official lives while upholding a strict code that excluded divorced people and low necklines alike – she was said never to have spoken to a journalist and melded into the crowd as she went shopping at grocery stores near the presidential palace or across the Seine on the Left Bank.12




    Her husband was always punctual and socially punctilious. He was gallant to women; after he gave up smoking, he still carried a lighter for their cigarettes. He said that if one met an ugly woman, one should try to see her in profile so as to glimpse only half her face. He fell under the spell of Jacqueline Kennedy and Grace Kelly, and insisted that the American actress Jean Seberg be placed next to him at an official lunch after she had married the writer and diplomat Romain Gary. When Brigitte Bardot appeared at a presidential reception in a tunic modelled on that of an eighteenth-century German grenadier, he remarked on her outfit and led her through the crowd to the buffet. But he believed that a woman was ‘made to have children’ and that, if the contraceptive pill was allowed, ‘sex will invade everything!’ Only one affair was alleged – in Poland when he was thirty and unmarried, and even that was subsequently denied by the diplomat who originally reported it. As de Gaulle himself asked the Information Minister Alain Peyrefitte, using the feminine gender for the eighth word, ‘When one has had History for a friend, how could one have any others?’13 14




    He felt most at home in the bleak winters at his house in the isolated village of Colombey-les-Deux-Églises in eastern France, telling visitors that it reflected the reality of the country rather than the sunshine of Provence or the soft lands of the Loire. While he laid on lavish state ceremonies, he was not at home in the social world of Paris. He always kept up his guard in public, and usually in private, too, never appearing without a tie or jacket; the only time his son saw him in pyjamas was after he underwent a prostate operation in 1964.




    Though his favourite reading was of French classical writers, notably the restless Romantic Chateaubriand, he had a taste for non-literary popular culture. He sang along with the comic troubadour Bourvil, and warbled light operetta airs in the bathroom. After watching the televised transmission of celebrations of Maurice Chevalier’s eightieth birthday, he told his aide-de-camp that he shouldn’t have missed the programme and launched into one of the star’s standards, somewhat out of tune. Meeting his ministers after making a key broadcast during the prolonged Algerian crisis, he broke into a song by another monument of French popular music, Charles Trenet, this time getting the pitch right. He took an interest in the performances of the country’s sports stars, worrying that the boxer Marcel Cerdan might lose a world title fight because he had been consorting with too many American blondes, and growing angry when the national football team lost, arguing with the referee from his seat in front of the television – his wife tried to limit his viewing of matches for fear that it might send up his blood pressure dangerously.15




    In his lifetime, de Gaulle was a highly controversial figure, both internationally and at home. His achievements often came at a cost, creating lasting enmities, suspicions and interrogations. Since his death in 1970, he has become established as the greatest French figure since Napoleon. Though he was forced to resign after losing a referendum vote in 1969, only 34 per cent of those questioned in a poll the following year expressed unhappiness with his record. While adapting the way they applied the system, his successors in the Fifth Republic have kept to the basic pattern of power set out by the General in 1958, giving him a heritage that few politicians can claim.16




    First, his long-time Prime Minister Georges Pompidou adopted a less regal style as he moved Gaullism towards conventional conservativism before dying of cancer in 1974. Then Valéry Giscard d’Estaing sought to rule as a dashing reformist prince, only to be brought crashing to earth at the election of 1981 by economic downturn and his own superiority. For fourteen years, the Élysée was occupied by de Gaulle’s major opponent, François Mitterrand, who had denounced the Fifth Republic as a permanent coup d’état; finally brought to power as head of a Socialist–Communist alliance, he found that he liked the office crafted by the General and manipulated it to a Florentine degree. Mitterrand’s successor, Jacques Chirac, presented himself as the standard-bearer of neo-Gaullism for the end of the twentieth century but was unable to convince the French that he was the true heir rather than a new version of the pre-Gaullist political era. The current head of state, Nicolas Sarkozy, shows every sign of using Gaullist forms to the full, even if his style and approach are far from those of the founder of the regime, and loses no opportunity to appeal to the sense of national identity, importance and independence so vital for the man who installed executive government in 1958.




    Every French town seems to have a street, avenue or square named after ‘the Constable’. France’s main airport bears his name, as does its nuclear-powered aircraft carrier. In 1970, the Place de l’Étoile in Paris, with the Arc de Triomphe at its centre, became the Place Charles de Gaulle. Large museums consecrated to the General have been opened in the military quarter of the Invalides in the capital and on the ridge above Colombey where his symbol of the Cross of Lorraine has been erected in a huge monument. When the national television station, France 2, held a poll in 2005 to pick the outstanding figure from the whole of French history, de Gaulle came out on top.




    This consecration leaves many questions unanswered. Was (and is) Gaullism a coherent political creed or simply the accumulation of the actions of the man after whom it is named? Was Charles de Gaulle a visionary who influenced international affairs in a significant manner or simply an ultra-stubborn defender of France’s national interests who ended up marginalising himself and his country? If he had been less intransigent and arrogant would France have played a lesser role or, on the contrary, would its influence have been increased by a more cooperative relationship with France’s allies? Was he a democrat or a barely disguised autocrat who would brook no opposition and used referendums as plebiscites? Did he have a truly inclusive image of France or was his talk of a united nation a cover for statist conservatism? Was he a man so imbued with himself and his mission that he verged on irrationality, or was he the ultimate calculator using his personality and the way in which it was perceived by others as a battering ram to get what he wanted?




    In short, was he a great statesman or a conjuror on a huge scale, a true founding father of present-day France, with lessons for the world, or a Wizard of Oz manipulating a giant machine of illusions? This book seeks to lay out the evidence on these and many other issues. At this stage, it may be enough to say that, in most cases, there is truth on both sides of that set of propositions. That is why Charles de Gaulle remains such a fascinating, and human, figure.




    




  



    

       

    




    
PART ONE




    REACHING FOR THE HEIGHTS




    




    

       

    




    
1




    EDGE OF THE ABYSS




    I


    ‘By myself’




    On 1 June 1940, as the German army and air force swept across France, an unusually tall one-star general went to see the Prime Minister of France. The politician Paul Reynaud, an elfin-faced conservative who had been in office for ten weeks, offered him a choice: he could take command of France’s tank forces or join the government as Deputy Defence Minister – Reynaud held the senior defence post. Charles de Gaulle took the second option. A historic career was launched that would parallel France’s fortunes for good and ill over three decades.




    As the two men talked, their country was undergoing its greatest humiliation of the twentieth century. Three weeks earlier, the German army had circumvented its main defences on the heavily fortified Maginot Line, and used the deadly combination of tanks and dive-bombers to pulverise French forces, which retreated in disarray or found themselves surrounded by the advancing enemy. The rout was all the more humiliating because France’s tank force was 30 per cent larger than Germany’s and included the heaviest and most powerful fighting vehicle in the world, the Char B1. In the air, the Allies again had 30 per cent superiority in numbers, and the United States had just delivered five hundred American planes, including high-quality fighters. But the Luftwaffe was as dominant as the tanks on the ground. The failure lay with the men in charge and the defensive mentality which had held sway since 1918.17




    Millions of civilians fled from the battle areas in the intense summer heat; they were compared by the pilot and writer Antoine de Saint-Exupéry to a great anthill kicked over by a boot. Law and order broke down along roads lined with abandoned cars and lorries that had run out of petrol. The population of the city of Lille fell from 200,000 to 20,000. In the eastern city of Troyes, only thirty people were left. The crowd waiting to board trains leaving Paris stretched for a kilometre.




    Officials at the Foreign Ministry carted out wheelbarrows piled with documents to burn them on the lawn. Visiting Paris for a meeting of the Allied war council, Winston Churchill found ‘utter dejection’ on every face. When the British Prime Minister asked where France’s strategic reserve was, the commander-in-chief, Maurice Gamelin, replied against the evidence that there was none, bewailing France’s ‘inferiority of numbers, inferiority of equipment, inferiority of methods’.18




    Reynaud, who barely had a parliamentary majority, sought to buttress morale by appointing the First World War hero Marshal Philippe Pétain as the number two in the government and replacing Gamelin with another figure from the last great Franco-German conflict, Maxime Weygand. Both choices were unfortunate. Pétain’s defence of the fortress of Verdun in 1916 had made him into a figure revered by the French, but he thought the new war was lost and that France should sue for peace. The Marshal was eighty-four; a British general described him as looking ‘senile, uninspiring and defeatist’. De Gaulle quoted the observation of the eighteenth-century writer Chateaubriand that ‘old age is a wreck’. The prim, touchy Weygand wailed that he had no troops and could not hold the line. Asked why he had appointed the two old men, Reynaud replied, ‘Better to have them inside than outside.’19




    The Premier, who had opposed the appeasement of Germany before the war, insisted in speeches and radio addresses that France would continue to resist the Nazi advance; but his words rang increasingly hollow, and he was under personal pressure from his mistress who urged him to seek an armistice. His appeals for reinforcements and Royal Air Force planes received no response from Churchill as he prepared for the battle to defend Britain. On 26 May, the British began to evacuate their expeditionary force from Dunkirk. Pétain told the American ambassador that Britain would allow the French to go on fighting to the last drop of their blood and would then sign a treaty with Hitler.20




    To balance the two defeatist generals, Reynaud promoted a tough-minded politician, Georges Mandel, to be Interior Minister. Mandel, who carried the historic heritage of having worked with ‘the Tiger’, Georges Clemenceau, in the victory of 1918, stands out in photographs of the government as a solid presence in a three-piece chalk-striped suit and stiff, starched collar. He believed in fighting on, if necessary from France’s territories in North Africa, but he had plenty of enemies and bore the burden of being Jewish in a country where anti-Semitism was rife.




    Among the few who thought like Mandel was forty-nine-year-old Charles de Gaulle. Standing six foot three inches tall with long arms, he was physically awkward and rarely at ease. He had a little moustache, big ears and a face that bore a resemblance to that of an elephant. His handshake was surprisingly limp – ‘a velvet claw’, one man who met him in 1940 recalled.21 The son of reactionary, devoutly Catholic parents, he had been a career soldier since becoming a military cadet in 1908. As a young officer, he fought in the trenches of the Western Front in the First World War, leading infantry charges with his drawn sword. Wounded three times, he was given up for dead at Verdun before being taken captive by the Germans. After acting as an adviser to the Poles in their campaign against the Soviet army in 1919–20, he became a protégé of Pétain, though they subsequently fell out, for personal reasons and because of de Gaulle’s championing of armoured warfare. Great men, he had decided early on, were those ready to grab the opportunity offered by events. June 1940 was to be that moment for de Gaulle.




    After commanding a tank division in two battles against the advancing Germans, he was promoted to the rank of acting brigadier general. ‘Nothing counts more than this. France must be saved,’ he wrote to his wife, Yvonne, from the front. In a radio broadcast, he foresaw a conflict of global dimensions from which France could emerge on the victorious side. ‘We are on the edge of the abyss and you carry France on your back,’ he told Reynaud on 3 June, adding that the Prime Minister had erred in appointing ‘yesterday’s men [who] fear me because they know I am right and have the dynamism to force their hands’. Should he become Reynaud’s chief of staff? he asked. No, he replied to the offer the Prime Minister had not made, ‘I intend to act with you, but by myself.’22




    II


    The last quarter of an hour




    4 June 1940. As the evacuation of 200,000 British and 140,000 French from Dunkirk ended, Churchill made his speech to the House of Commons vowing to fight on the beaches and in the fields, and never to surrender. In Paris, Reynaud flirted with the idea of moving the government to a safe haven in Brittany. It was not a very sound notion since the defence of the peninsula would have required twenty divisions, which France could not muster. Still, an order was issued for work to start on setting up the communications network for an eventual transfer.




    5 June. German planes bombed the outskirts of Paris. Reynaud announced de Gaulle’s appointment, but also named an appeaser, Paul Baudouin, as his number two at the Foreign Ministry. Though he had greeted de Gaulle as ‘a daring and energetic leader’ on the battlefield, Weygand called the new Deputy Defence Minister ‘a child’ while the navy chief, François Darlan, said he was mad. Pétain told Churchill’s envoy to France, General Sir Edward Spears: ‘His vanity leads him to think the art of war has no secrets for him . . . Not only is he vain, he is ungrateful. He has few friends in the army. No wonder, for he gives the impression of looking down on everybody.’ Baudouin and the head of the Prime Minister’s military staff, Colonel Villelume, detected ‘boundless ambition’ in the general. ‘But what more can he want?’ Reynaud asked them. ‘Your place,’ they answered.23




    6 June. Wearing his general’s uniform, the new junior minister lunched with officers of his armoured Fourth Division in northern France where they had fought the Germans outside the town of Abbeville. On the battlefield, he had been a domineering, distant presence, but now he shook each officer’s hand, and told them: ‘I am proud of you. You know how to do your duty.’24




    Returning to his ministry in Paris, an eighteenth-century stone hôtel particulier on the rue Saint-Dominique on the Left Bank of the Seine, he plotted the course of the war on a large wall map. He later recalled to a subordinate that, when he arrived, the waiting room was crammed with senior officers. They were not there to plan resistance, he added, ‘all of them had come to ask me for a promotion or a decoration’. The press greeted his appointment with enthusiasm, and, to make himself better known, he summoned photographers, leading Reynaud’s chief of staff, Dominique Leca, to note that he was acting ‘like a star’. De Gaulle realised France would need ‘a resurrection myth’ if it was to recover from defeat, and was starting to create it round himself, Leca added.25




    8 June. In his memoirs, de Gaulle records a conversation with Weygand, whose contents the other man subsequently denied. De Gaulle’s account has the commander-in-chief saying the Germans would advance to the rivers Seine and Marne, after which ‘it will be over’.




    ‘Over?’ the junior general replied. ‘What about the empire?’




    ‘The empire?’ Weygand answered with a despairing smile. ‘That’s child’s talk. As for the rest of the world, when I have been beaten here, England will not wait eight days to negotiate with the Reich.’ Looking de Gaulle in the eye, he added: ‘Ah! If only I was sure that the Germans would leave me sufficient forces to maintain order.’ Weygand wrote later that, if his smile had been despairing, it had been because de Gaulle was talking about other things instead of concentrating on the immediate situation.26




    9 June. In his order of the day to the army Weygand declared that the ‘last quarter of an hour’ had come. ‘Stand fast,’ he advised. Reynaud instructed that a 180-kilometre line running across the frontier of Brittany should be fortified, as if there was time for that.




    One of de Gaulle’s responsibilities was military liaison with the British and he paid his first visit to London on 9 June to try to convince Churchill to commit more forces to the defence of France. Explaining why this was impossible, the Prime Minister launched into a virtuoso display of rhetoric delivered half in English and half in his idiosyncratic French as he strode up and down. Though de Gaulle got nowhere, the visit was important for his future. He was able to speak on behalf of his country, and made a favourable impression on his hosts as cool and collected.




    On the return journey, the pilot wanted to land at Caen to avoid flying at night to Paris, where conditions might be perilous. But his passenger insisted on getting back to the capital as soon as possible. The plane put down at Le Bourget airport near Paris by the light of two flares beside the runway; the pilot was reported to have mopped sweat from his brow as the aircraft came to a halt.




    At 10 p.m., the government decided to leave for the Loire Valley the following day, declaring Paris an open city. De Gaulle argued in vain that some of the administration should stay behind. The situation was like a house of cards, he thought. If everybody left, things would fall apart. His own wife and three children had moved to Brittany, where they rented two storeys in a villa in the coastal town of Carantec.27




    10 June. ‘A day of extreme anguish,’ de Gaulle recalled. Italy declared war on France. Weygand handed Reynaud a note saying that the battle in metropolitan France was lost. When de Gaulle objected, the commander-in-chief asked him if he had something to propose. ‘The government does not have propositions to make but orders to give’ came the reply. ‘I count on it to give them.’




    That night, Reynaud was driven south from Paris, accompanied by de Gaulle. During the three-hour journey, the general urged the Prime Minister to replace Weygand with a commander from the front in eastern France, General Hutzinger. He was a strange choice, having been defeated by the German advance after dismissing a warning about the inadequate defences and the penetrability of the Ardennes hills through which the Panzers had burst. Still, de Gaulle argued that he had a broader view of the war than Weygand. Whether that was true or not, he would be less of an obstacle to the deputy minister.




    Reynaud’s car took back roads to avoid the crush of refugees on the main route. The Third Republic, established after the last defeat by the Germans in 1870, was in flight, incapable of defending the nation. Its leaders and their regime had been discredited, and they were unable to tell the truth – the official radio announced that the Prime Minister was going to join the armies but he headed in the opposite direction for the Orléans region, where Weygand had established his headquarters in the redbrick château of Briare.




    Pétain joined the exodus in a Cadillac, followed by his personal doctor in a Chrysler. When the Marshal arrived at Briare at 2 a.m. no bed was available and he was driven on for two hours to the town of Gien, where he slept in a house attached to the station on a bed abandoned by a railway inspector.28




    11 June. Meeting de Gaulle, Pétain remarked: ‘You are a general now. I don’t congratulate you on that. What’s the meaning of rank during a defeat?’ In Paris, Senator Jacques Bardoux, a stalwart of the regime whose father had been a founder of the Third Republic, went to the Interior Ministry. The gates were shut. When Bardoux asked to see Mandel, the guard replied: ‘He left during the night.’ ‘And the President of the Republic?’ ‘Oh, that one left forty-eight hours ago.’ ‘That’s sickening,’ Bardoux said. ‘Couldn’t agree more,’ the guard answered.




    Churchill arrived in Orléans in a lobster-pink aeroplane for a Franco-British summit at which Pétain lamented that France was being smashed to pieces, with one-third of its 105 divisions lost. ‘I am helpless,’ Weygand said. ‘Now is the decisive moment.’




    No, Churchill replied. The decisive moment would come when Hitler hurled the Luftwaffe against Britain. ‘If we can keep command of the air over our own island – that is all I ask – we will win it all back for you,’ he added.




    His normally sallow skin still glowing from hours spent on the field of combat, de Gaulle made a striking contrast to the other French ministers whom Spears likened to ‘prisoners hauled up from some deep dungeon to hear an inevitable verdict’. Oliver Harvey, from the British embassy, described the general as ‘the only calm and intelligent soldier left’. He was, Spears wrote, ‘straight, direct, even rather brutal . . . a strange-looking man, enormously tall; sitting at the table, he dominated everybody else by his height . . . His heavily-hooded eyes were very shrewd. When about to speak he oscillated his head slightly, like a pendulum, while searching for words.’ Spears understood why, as a young soldier, de Gaulle had gained the nickname ‘the Constable’.




    The junior minister’s increasing prominence was signalled by a request from Churchill that he should sit at his right at dinner, to the annoyance of Weygand. The fare was soup, an omelette and a light wine followed by coffee. De Gaulle lit one cigarette from another as he preached resistance, and suggested that the French and British tank forces should be amalgamated. On his return to London, Churchill told colleagues he thought a great deal of the general.29




    12 June. Staying in a neo-Gothic château at Azay-sur-Cher where he slept in a four-poster bed with pink curtains, de Gaulle worked on plans to move troops across the Mediterranean, and got Reynaud to agree to set up resistance centres in the Auvergne and Brittany. He made a quick trip to western France where he learned that building the necessary defences would take three months, clearly an impossible delay when the Wehrmacht’s tanks were speeding across northern France. So North Africa was the only possibility for continued resistance.




    ‘I will never sign an armistice,’ he told his aide and friend, Jean Auburtin. ‘It would be against French honour and interests.’ When Auburtin evoked the horrors of an occupation of metropolitan France, de Gaulle replied, ‘Very nasty things will happen, but would an armistice change anything? We would have against us not only Germany and Italy, but perhaps also America and Britain, and one day Russia and Japan.’




    Mandel estimated that, with three undecided, the twenty-one members of the Cabinet were split equally between resistance and surrender. Pétain insisted that an armistice was essential, and Weygand spread alarm with a false report of a Communist insurrection in Paris. Though he had joined the exodus, the commander-in-chief lambasted the politicians for having left the capital, adding, according to Spears, that he intended to detain de Gaulle for having made preparations to send troops and supplies to North Africa without his approval. Those who advocated fighting on displayed only rhetorical bravery, he concluded. When Mandel objected, Weygand flounced out of the room, remarking that the ministers were mad and should be arrested – there was some evidence that he was thinking of doing this with a special troop of young soldiers.30




    13 June. The government and the President of the Republic, Albert Lebrun, moved to a string of châteaux round Tours. To try to bolster France’s will to fight, Churchill flew in for another meeting with Reynaud. Nobody met the visitors at the airport, which had been bombed the previous night. The British borrowed a car to get into the city, and, not finding the French leader in his office at the prefecture, lunched in a café. During the meal, Paul Baudouin, the leading civilian advocate of surrender, appeared to say that the situation was hopeless unless the Americans declared war on Germany.




    After the British had returned to the prefecture, Reynaud turned up, his ever expressive eyebrows twitching, his face jumping with a tic. He asked for France to be released from its undertaking to Britain not to make a separate peace. Churchill replied in French that he understood the difficulties France faced, but could not agree. Twisting his remark, Baudouin spread the word that he had ‘understood’ in the sense of having accepted the French request.31




    Reynaud did not inform the government of the meeting with Churchill. De Gaulle heard about it when he received a message from Reynaud’s private secretary on his way back from his trip to Brittany. Hurrying to Tours, he managed to get to the later part of the talks. Leaving the building, Churchill saw him standing at the doorway ‘solid and expressionless’. ‘L’homme du destin,’ the Prime Minister said in a low voice, according to his own memoirs. The Frenchman remained impassive – he may not have heard the words or they may have been a retrospective Churchillian insertion into history.




    The general then went to a Cabinet session at which he was observed to be ‘pale and sober in what he said . . . a cold and passionate man’. The Deputy Prime Minister, Camille Chautemps, an expert at producing compromises, proposed a face-saving approach under which France would use a neutral channel to ask Hitler for terms and then decide whether it was ready to accept them. Pétain called an armistice ‘the necessary condition for the continued existence of eternal France’. Without such an accord, he warned, the army might dissolve in panic. Countering any idea of crossing the Mediterranean, he vowed to remain in metropolitan France ‘among the people of France to share their trials and misfortune’.




    Reynaud went on the radio to declare: ‘If it needs a miracle to save France, I believe in that miracle.’ The Prime Minister’s lack of resolve was proving a considerable disappointment to de Gaulle by now. According to Churchill’s secretary, John Colville, during his visits to London he called the politician ce poisson gelé (this frozen fish) and spoke of him ‘like dirt’. On the evening of 13 June, the general wrote a resignation letter. His chief of staff tipped off Georges Mandel, who asked to see him. ‘We are at the start of a world war,’ the Interior Minister told him. ‘You will have great tasks to carry out, [with] the advantage among us of being a man who is intact. Think only of what should be done for France, and consider that, if necessary, your present job could help things.’ De Gaulle agreed not to resign. Perhaps he had never really intended to do so, and was just expressing his frustration; Mandel’s words were certainly calculated to appeal to his ambition and sense of destiny.




    That night, Spears glimpsed Reynaud in a corridor of his château. He looked ‘ghastly, with a completely unnatural expression, still and white’, the British envoy recorded. The Premier’s mistress, the Comtesse de Portes, described by his private secretary as ‘ugly, dirty, nasty and half-demented’, stalked the passages, throwing open doors to track down her man. Passing de Gaulle on her rounds, she gestured at him and said: ‘What’s that one doing here? Another who wants to turn himself into a politician. Let him go and lead his tanks and prove himself on the battlefield.’32




    III


    ‘Everything is about to collapse’




    14 June. The Germans entered Paris at dawn. De Gaulle argued in favour of heading west to set up resistance in Brittany. Reynaud sent his hand luggage that way but then went to Bordeaux; his mistress had told him sharply that she was not going to sleep in a Breton farm bed.




    Blocked on the road by the crowd fleeing the Germans, the Prime Minister turned pale as he heard shouts outside his car, but they were supportive – ‘Hold on!’ ‘Long live France.’ Arriving in the southwestern port city, he moved into military quarters; the Comtesse de Portes ordered white tissue wall drapes. Mandel took over the prefecture, for which his mistress ordered furniture and linen to the tune of 9,760 francs. De Gaulle and Baudouin were allocated rooms at the Hôtel Splendide. That night, the general saw Pétain in the dining room, and went over to shake his hand. Neither said anything. It was the last time they met.




    The general then set off on a second mission to London, to seek naval support for a troop movement to North Africa. No plane was available, so he drove through the night to take a boat from Brittany.33




    15 June. Reynaud received a reply from Franklin D. Roosevelt to an appeal for help he had sent to Washington. It contained a broad message of support for France, but, to cater to isolationist sentiment, avoided specific commitments, and was not to be published. As the British began Operation Aerial to evacuate 100,000 support troops left in France after Dunkirk, France was ever more on its own. In the cocoon in Bordeaux, politicians intrigued in fashionable restaurants. In the Chapon Fin, the swarthy former Premier Pierre Laval, looking, as Spears put it, ‘gross, flabby and high in colour’ with his nicotine-stained fingers and heavy eyelids, said he would conduct negotiations with Berlin after Reynaud had borne the shame of capitulation.




    Meeting in Mandel’s office, a group of politicians agreed that de Gaulle, whom the Socialist Léon Blum described as ‘young and ardent’, should be appointed commander-in-chief to replace Weygand, and should organise a retreat to North Africa. But a majority of the Cabinet supported the proposal by Chautemps that France should get a third party to sound out Germany on its armistice terms. Reynaud turned down a British proposal that he go to London, saying he would leave only for North Africa. Pétain drafted a resignation letter to protest at the slow progress towards seeking an armistice, and discussed the composition of a new government with Admiral Darlan. That night, after upbraiding her lover once more for not having followed her advice in seeking an armistice, de Portes was said to have added, in a reference to rumours that Reynaud had Mexican blood, ‘Anyway, my poor Paul, you’re not even French and so you can’t think as a Frenchman.’ The story is that he threw two glasses of water at her.




    In Brittany on his way to Britain, de Gaulle spent half an hour with his family, most of it alone with his wife, Yvonne, though he did not have time to visit his mother who was seriously ill in a nearby village. ‘Things are very bad,’ he said. ‘Perhaps we are going to fight on in Africa, but I think it more likely that everything is about to collapse.’ He added that they should be ready to leave at any time. He entrusted the family silver, linen, furs, financial securities and his papers to a local woman. Then he embraced the children and got back into his car. His son, Philippe, stood at the door watching the black Renault disappear in a cloud of dust, not knowing when he would see his father again.




    From Brest, de Gaulle telephoned Bordeaux to ask for travel permits to be sent to his wife and family. He boarded a destroyer, Milan, insisting on being given a salute of honour as it passed France’s most modern battleship, Richelieu, on its way out to sea. During the voyage to England, he asked the captain if he would be ready to sail under British colours. ‘A French officer only fights under the French flag,’ the captain replied. To which the general responded: ‘Do you think it amusing, today, to be called General de Gaulle?’ In the middle of the night, a crew member saw him standing rigid on deck, looking at the sea. The sailor approached de Gaulle, and their eyes met. They said nothing, but the sailor remembered him as ‘preoccupied and, it seemed, very worried’.34




    16 June. At a morning Cabinet meeting, Pétain read out his resignation letter. President Lebrun talked him out of it, but the Marshal said his continued membership of the government would depend on whether the British agreed to the proposal to sound out Berlin on armistice terms.




    Arriving in Plymouth, de Gaulle and his twenty-seven-year-old aide, Geoffroy Chodron de Courcel, took the night train to London, sleeping in their seats. The general went to the Hyde Park Hotel, where he was shaving when he received a visit from the French ambassador to London, Charles Corbin, and the international official and banker Jean Monnet, who was supervising French arms purchase in London. De Gaulle and Monnet were to become fierce adversaries over Europe and French sovereignty, but, in mid-June 1940, they were united in supporting any means of keeping their country in the fight against Hitler.




    This took the form of an extraordinary proposal for a Franco-British union. The idea of institutionalising cross-Channel cooperation had been explored in vague terms for several years, but now the idea canvassed by the future ‘Father of Europe’ and one of his colleagues, René Pleven, had reached Churchill. Though de Gaulle was later scathing about the proposition, his reaction at the time was to clutch at any straw to prevent France making peace with Hitler. He had, by his own account, already taken the initiative of ordering a ship carrying arms from the USA to France to sail instead to a British port, going well beyond the powers vested in him; subsequent evidence indicates that the boat changed course for other reasons after Britain instructed all vessels carrying supplies to France to divert to British ports.




    Agreeing to go along with Monnet’s proposal, the general telephoned Reynaud to say that ‘something stupendous’ was being prepared. Then he lunched with Churchill at the Carlton Club, assuring the Prime Minister that the French fleet would not be handed over voluntarily to the Germans. That afternoon, while de Gaulle and the ambassador waited in an adjoining room, the Cabinet approved a declaration of Franco-British union, joining the two nations indissolubly in their ‘unyielding resolution in their common defence of justice and freedom, against subjection to a system which reduces mankind to a life of robots and slaves’. They would have joint defence, foreign, financial and economic policy organs, and a single War Cabinet during the conflict in charge of all their forces. Their parliaments would be associated. ‘We shall conquer,’ the declaration concluded.




    ‘Nous sommes d’accord,’ Churchill cried as he walked out of the Cabinet Room. Ministers clapped de Gaulle on the back and told him he would become commander-in-chief. ‘Je l’arrangerai,’ the Prime Minister muttered. Still, the British leader again rebuffed a final appeal by the visitor to send troops and planes to France: according to Churchill’s account, the Frenchman paused as he left the room, took a couple of steps back and said, in English, ‘I think you are quite right.’




    The union scheme was a wildly impractical initiative launched without preparation – nobody had told King George VI that his Empire was about to be merged with that of France. British policy was contradictory. A few hours before the union was proclaimed, a message had been sent to Reynaud to free France from the obligation not to seek armistice terms on its own ‘but only provided that the French fleet is sailed forthwith for British harbours, pending negotiations’. This demand was peremptory in the extreme and could only fuel antagonism towards London. The bulk of the fleet was in the Mediterranean where it would be needed to protect any movement of troops to North Africa, and, though the British did not know this, Admiral Darlan had got Pétain’s agreement that the warships would be kept out of German hands if the Marshal took power. As Reynaud told the ambassador, Ronald Campbell, when he handed over the message, ‘It’s so stupid.’ He decided not to tell anybody about it.




    De Gaulle telephoned Reynaud from Whitehall to read out the union declaration. Spears, who was in the room in Bordeaux, described the Premier taking down the wording with a thick pencil on sheets of paper that flew off his desk as he wrote, repeating each word, his eyebrows shooting up so far that they seemed about to merge with his neatly parted hair. When de Gaulle finished, Reynaud asked if Churchill had agreed to the declaration. The British leader took the telephone to confirm this. Speaking in English, Reynaud pledged to defend the proposal to the death. He would unveil the declaration that evening, and rout the appeasers. Spears saw Reynaud’s face ‘transfigured with joy . . . with a great happiness in the belief that France would now remain in the war’. He and Churchill agreed to meet the following day in the Breton port of Concarneau.




    But the Comtesse de Portes read the text of the declaration as it was being typed up in the room next to Reynaud’s office, and the appeasers probably had access to taps on the Prime Minister’s telephone. Forewarned, they denounced a British plot to take over France’s Empire and turn their country into a dominion. Pétain said union would tie France to a corpse. Reynaud’s mistress sent him a note saying she hoped he was not going to act like the fifteenth-century queen Isabel, who had signed a treaty marrying her daughter to Henry V of England and passing the royal succession to the English. The union proposal fell by the wayside without a vote. Reynaud resigned. President Lebrun called on Pétain to form a government. A straw poll of ministers showed eleven opposing an armistice and nine supporting it, with four undecided. So the Prime Minister might have won had he stood firm. But he had had enough.




    Pétain had his government list ready. Weygand took the Defence Ministry. Darlan became Minister for the Marine. Laval got nothing after opposition from Weygand led to Pétain withdrawing the offer of the Foreign Ministry. Instead, the serpentine Baudouin was given the job, and immediately asked the Spanish ambassador and the papal nuncio to sound out Berlin and Rome on armistice conditions. (Questioned in a legal case in 1955, Baudouin said de Gaulle’s name appeared on Pétain’s first ministerial list, but was struck off at Weygand’s insistence. This seems highly unlikely, and Weygand denied the story.)




    ‘It is with a heavy heart that I tell you today that the combat must be ended,’35 Pétain declared in a national broadcast, adding that he gave France ‘the gift of my person to alleviate its misfortune’. He had asked the adversary ‘if he is ready to seek with me, among soldiers, after the struggle and in honour, ways to put an end to the hostilities’. He tried to get Mandel to back an armistice but the former Interior Minister remained steadfastly opposed. Over lunch at the Café de Paris, the old soldier wrote on the back of the menu ‘June 3 1940, first bombing of Paris, bad omen’ while the politician scribbled ‘June 3 1940, first bombing of Paris, first step of recovery’. There was nothing to be done with the Marshal, Mandel remarked – ‘He is gaga.’




    Churchill telephoned the Marshal to deliver a violent tirade against an armistice, followed by a message in which he warned the French ministers that handing over the fleet to the Germans would ‘scarify their names for a thousand years of history’. For the British, the immediate priority was to find a man who would continue the fight outside France. Mandel was the obvious choice, but he turned down a suggestion from Spears to fly out with the British envoy in the morning. Sitting in a large room at the prefecture lit by a single candle, he acknowledged that he might be in danger as a Jew. That was precisely why he could not leave. ‘It would look as if I was afraid, as if I was running away,’ he added, according to Spears. Just then, a door into the room opened and his mistress, an actress from the Comédie-Française, looked in to say that their cases were packed to move, not to London but to a hotel.




    De Gaulle only learned of the failure of the union scheme and Reynaud’s resignation after landing in Bordeaux in a plane put at his disposal by the British. Weygand refused to receive him, but he got to see Reynaud at 11 p.m., and said he intended to go to Britain to continue the combat. The newly resigned Premier arranged for him to receive 100,000 francs from secret government funds, though, according to one of his staff, he remarked that ‘de Gaulle is doing the wrong thing; he is undisciplined’.




    Accounts of what happened next vary. The Gaullist version has him pursuing a dignified course at a pace of his own choosing. On the other hand, Spears wrote of the Frenchman hailing him and Campbell in a loud whisper from behind a column as they went to their final meeting with Reynaud. Weygand intended to arrest him, de Gaulle said. By this version, he was still waiting when the two British representatives left the former Premier, and accepted an offer of a flight to London in the morning. French biographers have pooh-poohed the Spears version, saying that de Gaulle decided alone to use the British plane to return to London. The Spears imbroglio clearly does not fit with the image of a great man moving serenely towards his destiny.36




    That night, the general told his staff of his decision to leave France. ‘I did not want to take a whole tribe along,’ he said later. This was just as well since only his aide-de-camp, de Courcel, accompanied him, though a former private secretary gave him the keys to a flat he owned in Seamore Grove37 by Hyde Park.38




    17 June. When the British ambassador called on Pétain, he too found the Marshal ‘completely gaga’, according to the diplomat Oliver Harvey. Meanwhile, de Gaulle was driven to the airport with de Courcel. In his suitcase were a pair of trousers, four shirts and a photograph of his family. Stopping at military headquarters on the way, he raised his arms and said, ‘The Germans have lost the war. They are beaten, and France must go on fighting.’ Then he drove to the airfield, and boarded the two-winged Dragon Rapide aircraft.




    Again the accounts differ. Spears recalled a confused exit using subterfuge in which he hauled de Gaulle into the plane at the last moment after de Courcel had stowed the luggage. The French version depicts a smooth departure, though, in a memorandum to Churchill in 1948, de Gaulle acknowledged that ‘some precautions’ had been undertaken. The party flew up the Atlantic coast; below them a flotilla of ships in the Loire estuary was rescuing the last British soldiers from France; the troop carrier, Lancastria, was bombed by a German plane and sank, with the loss of at least 3,500 lives. Then they crossed Brittany, where de Gaulle’s family was and where his eighty-year-old mother was dying. The general stared imperturbably ahead, reflecting, as he told his son, on the scale of the ‘adventure’ he was undertaking. For somebody raised in a tradition of loyalty and service, it was appalling, he acknowledged.




    When the plane landed in Jersey to refuel, Spears got a cup of coffee for the general. Taking a sip, de Gaulle thought he had been served tea. ‘It was his first introduction to the tepid liquid which, in England, passes for either one or the other,’ Spears wrote. ‘His martyrdom had begun.’39
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    ‘I, GENERAL DE GAULLE’




    I


    The call




    Reaching London, de Gaulle lunched with Spears at the Royal Automobile Club (RAC) in Pall Mall, and then went to Downing Street to see Churchill, who greeted him warmly in the sunny garden, and offered him the chance of broadcasting to France on the BBC once Pétain had formally sought an armistice. Despite his departure from France, the general had not entirely broken with its new government, as was evident when he cabled Bordeaux asking if he should continue to talk to the British about transferring troops to Africa and on other subjects. But he was fast moving towards accepting the consequences of what he had done. At dinner that night at Jean Monnet’s home, his hostess asked him how long he expected his mission to London to last. ‘Madame,’ he replied, ‘I am not here on a mission. I am here to save the honour of France.’ At table, he called Pétain a traitor; his host asked him to lower his voice as the butler was an admirer of the Marshal. Back in the flat he had borrowed, the general walked up and down in his bedroom, smoking heavily as he considered how to proceed.




    Though Churchill had been favourably impressed, he was a stranger in the country to which he had flown. Those who did know of him held varied views. At the time of his appointment to the government, The Times had reported that he was regarded as ‘one of the most brilliant of the younger generals . . . rather aggressively “right-wing”, intensely theoretical . . . clear-minded, lucid and a man of action as well as a man of dreams and abstract ideas’. The head of the Foreign Office, Sir Alexander Cadogan, remarked to colleagues that he could not tell them anything about the Frenchman ‘except that he’s got a head like a pineapple and hips like a woman’s’. At the time of the abortive union proposal, the Prime Minister’s secretary, John Colville, wondered if he would turn out to be a second Napoleon. Desmond Morton, an intelligence officer who had supplied Churchill with information before the war and then moved into Downing Street with him, called him ‘a magnificent crook . . . just what we want.’40




    De Gaulle’s first full day in London, 18 June, was the anniversary of the Battle of Waterloo. In France, the official count of refugees reached six million, and the Interior Ministry announced that all urban centres with more than 20,000 inhabitants would be declared open towns. Both Washington and Moscow recognised the Pétain government. In Munich, Hitler and Mussolini met to plan the future as the Führer prepared for the assault on isolated Britain. Stalin remained in alliance with Berlin, and Soviet troops completed the occupation of Latvia and Estonia. In Chicago, Roosevelt promised American mothers that he would not send their sons to fight in a war in far-off lands.




    In France, there were scattered refusals to accept the capitulation. A military commander in the Auvergne ordered his men to resist. A Communist member of the National Assembly, Charles Tillon, issued a tract declaring that ‘the French people will not bear slavery’. In Chartres, the Prefect of the Eure-et-Loir department, Jean Moulin, declined to sign a proclamation handed to him by the Germans and tried to kill himself by slitting his throat to avoid giving way under torture. But most politicians and officials were less resolute.




    Mandel was arrested as he finished his lunch at the Chapon Fin restaurant with his mistress, apparently on the instructions of a Pétain follower who had become Justice Minister and referred to him simply as ‘the Jew’. The Marshal said he had been told that Mandel was organising a plot to prevent an armistice. After the former minister defended himself, Pétain wrote a note acknowledging the error. According to the diplomat Oliver Harvey, Mandel said he would leave on a British warship anchored in Bordeaux, with his daughter, mistress and black valet, Baba, but changed his mind and sailed with twenty-seven other parliamentarians for North Africa. The British then sent Monnet and Pleven to try to recruit the radical Socialist leader Édouard Herriot; he listened to his visitors as he dined on a rack of lamb with sorrel sauce, but decided to stay in France.41




    In London, two men, so different in many ways but united in a stubborn belief in their own indispensability, worked through the morning of 18 June on speeches which would go down in history as expressions of the will to defy the seemingly triumphant forces of despotism. In Downing Street, Churchill put the final touches to his ‘Finest Hour’ address which he delivered to the House of Commons later in the day. Across central London in his small flat, de Gaulle drafted and redrafted, with a pen nib dipped into an inkwell, the broadcast address which would provide the essential foundation stone for his future.




    Unknown to him, the British Cabinet, meeting in Churchill’s absence, decided that the proposed broadcast would be ‘undesirable’ while the Foreign Office was still hoping to get the new French government to ‘act in conformity with the interests of the alliance’. Duff Cooper, the Minister of Information, did not tell the general of this decision when they lunched together. However, he tipped off Spears, who went to see Churchill that afternoon to argue that de Gaulle should speak to give French resistance a focus and to try to induce the remnants of France’s air force at Bordeaux to fly to Britain.




    The Prime Minister told Spears he would authorise the broadcast if members of the Cabinet would change their minds. Looking ‘miserable and hot’, according to Colville, Spears set off to speak to them individually. His mission was successful. An addendum on top of the record of the earlier decision noted, ‘Consulted one by one, Cabinet members agreed that de Gaulle should be authorised to speak.’42




    In the flat off Park Lane, Élisabeth de Méribel, a friend of de Courcel who was employed at the French economic office in London and had been enlisted as a temporary secretary, tapped out the speech with two fingers on a portable typewriter on a small table in the entry hall. She had trouble deciphering his angular writing amid all his corrections.




    In the early evening, accompanied by de Courcel, de Gaulle took a taxi to a BBC building by Oxford Circus to make the first of sixty-seven broadcasts from London during the war. He wore military uniform with leggings and polished boots. Spears and two members of the BBC staff led him to the studio where he did a sound check with a single word, ‘France’. Then, his voice a little stiff, he launched into his text. He was pale, his forelock stuck to his forehead as he stared at the microphone as if speaking to a person, which, given his personalisation of his nation, he was.




    His message, which went down in history as ‘l’Appel du 18 juin’, was simple. ‘Has the last word been said?’ he asked. ‘Must hope disappear? Is defeat final?’ To which there was one simple answer: ‘No!’ France was not alone in what was a worldwide struggle, he insisted three times. It had overseas possessions, could align itself with the British Empire and ‘use without limit the immense industry of the United States’. Circumspect about his own role, he simply invited French officers and soldiers who had crossed to Britain, mainly in the Dunkirk evacuation, to contact him. This was a moment to talk about the nation, not to push forward his own claims.43 44




    The general’s speech was recorded and then broadcast at 10 p.m. By the time it went out, he had dined nearby at the Langham Hotel with de Courcel and gone back to his flat. His aide thought he was happier than he had been since leaving Bordeaux. To his understandable annoyance when he discovered this the following day, the BBC did not keep the recording. Very few people heard his words that night. Among them, according to a relation present in Brittany at the time, was de Gaulle’s mother, a little old lady in black with heart trouble; she pulled the sleeve of a clergyman, who had alerted her to the broadcast in advance, and said ‘That’s my son, Monsieur le curé. That’s my son.’ Though the newspapers in Bordeaux ignored it, there were reports in the press in Lyon and Marseille. The reaction from the French government was restrained – the ambassador in London was instructed to tell the British that it was ‘an unfriendly gesture’ to allow a French officer to broadcast against the Pétain administration.




    II


    God’s hands




    Charles de Gaulle did not suddenly erupt from nowhere in June 1940. His character and his style were already fully formed, as will be clear from the next section of this book. Otherwise, he would not have achieved what he did. June 17–18 was the moment when his long preparation for a moment of destiny was realised. But he was still displaying amazing presumption. He was a newly promoted general in a chain of command that reached up to the two eminent commanders whom he disavowed, treating one as a traitor and disregarding the other. He had no mandate from anybody to continue resistance to the Germans in defiance of a legally constituted government which was seeking an armistice. He had never been elected to any post, and had held a junior government position for just twelve days. Nobody important accompanied him to London.




    The broadcast was not an immediate bid for leadership, as such. Rather, it set the stage for what was to follow. His force of character resonated from his words with their careful literary composition. He would brook no compromises and speak only the truth as he saw it. He had taken a decisive step. As he later told the faithful Gaullist Pierre Messmer, he stopped being a soldier on 18 June, in the sense that he no longer adhered to the soldier’s first duty of obeying orders. He was his own man, as he would remain for the next three decades. His address thus became the foundation of Gaullism. From now on, he was the General with a capital G.




    As the broadcast demonstrated, he was always a great gambler, a bluffer ready to take a supreme risk in defying Pétain and the new order in France. But, behind his arrogant intransigence, the General could be calculating in seeking to achieve his ends. Like most successful bettors, he was often considerably less headstrong than he appeared, taking care not to burn his bridges prematurely and not to expose himself unduly.




    For instance, though de Gaulle denied having submitted any of his BBC speeches to the British government for approval, it is clear that he did so on at least some occasions and accepted changes. The speech he read out on 18 June dropped a reference to ‘the chiefs who have been at the head of the French armies for numerous years’; the British still hoped to deal with Pétain and Weygand. The text for the following day was seen by Cadogan at the Foreign Office whose objections were relayed to Churchill; as a result, according to the mandarin, Spears ‘humbly’ sent him the wording of de Gaulle’s broadcasts. The historian Philippe Oulmont, Research Director at the Charles de Gaulle Foundation in Paris, thinks that speech was probably not broadcast, and may have been written, or rewritten, subsequently in the form in which it was later published.




    On 22 June, the Prime Minister said de Gaulle should bring the scripts of his next broadcast to Downing Street to be put to the Cabinet, which approved it without any changes. Four days later, Gladwyn Jebb of the Foreign Office was handed the text of a broadcast by de Gaulle for vetting; though he found it brilliant, he decided it violated British rules. So he hurried round to the General’s hotel to suggest alterations. The Frenchman declared them ‘parfaitement ri-di-cules’ but accepted them in the end in order to get on the air.45




    Though The Times ran a headline, ‘De Gaulle heads Free French’, on 19 June, the British establishment was not convinced he was its man. The War Secretary, Anthony Eden, was supportive, as he would continue to be when he moved to the Foreign Office at the end of 1940. But two very senior diplomats, Alexander Cadogan and Robert Vansittart, had their doubts and the chief of the Imperial General Staff, Alan Brooke, was ‘not much impressed’, finding de Gaulle ‘supercilious and self-satisfied’ and ‘not much use’. Colville recorded in his diary that ‘it was never intended that de Gaulle should be any more than a rallying point for expatriated Frenchmen’. Duff Cooper led a delegation to Casablanca in a fresh attempt to enlist Mandel and other parliamentarians. There were also hopes that Weygand would head an administration in North Africa, which might detach itself from the Germans.46




    On 22 June, France signed the armistice terms laid down by Hitler in the same railway carriage, in the same forest clearing at Compiègne, where Germany had surrendered in 1918. France was required to pay the costs of the occupation forces at a vastly inflated rate which absorbed 55 per cent of national revenue. The franc was devalued by 20 per cent. Germany again annexed Alsace-Lorraine. Regions it controlled included most of the nation’s industry and mineral resources. In theory, the Pétain administration remained France’s government; in practice, power clearly lay with the victors, and the collaborators did little more than provide an administrative and policing apparatus. In a little-noted clause in the agreement, the French consented to hand over political refugees on their territory at the demand of the Nazis; two leading German Socialists, Rudolf Breitscheid and Rudolf Hilferding, were among those taken back to Germany to their deaths.




    The Pétain regime could argue that it had been left with direct authority over two-fifths of the country, and a 94,000-man army, which, however, was not permitted tanks. Apart from ships to defend the Empire, the fleet was to be put out of commission and laid up in five ports. The Marshal and Weygand pronounced the conditions ‘tough but not dishonourable’. It seemed to them a lot better than continuing a hopeless war.




    De Gaulle reacted with his most cutting and personal broadcast, asking what France’s fate would be if the Allies won the war. ‘Honour, common sense, and the superior interests of the nation command all the Free French to continue fighting wherever they are and however they can,’ he added. ‘I, General de Gaulle, am starting this national task here in England . . . I invite all the French who want to remain free to listen to me and to follow me.’




    *




    The British efforts to win support among the French establishment were doomed to failure. Having declared that Hitler would wring the neck of the British chicken, Weygand was not going to side with London against Germany. In Morocco, Mandel was packed off to a boat where Duff Cooper could not contact him. France’s proconsuls in North Africa did not respond to a message from de Gaulle offering to work under them if they would oppose the Pétain regime.




    So, in the end, there was no alternative to the General. He had the inestimable advantage of having made up his mind, of having won Churchill’s appreciation and of having a simple message of hope and national prestige; in the words of a later proclamation, France had lost a battle but not the war and must preserve its honour. The next four years would test whether he could make that stick, and become the embodiment of the country which he felt could not be itself without achieving grandeur. As it turned out, the blank sheet on which he operated would be an advantage, enabling him to mould the Free French movement as he wished. But, at the time, according to his recollections to his son, he wondered if he was doing something mad, ‘throwing myself into the water without knowing where the bank is . . . I put myself in God’s hands.’47




    *




    Original text of de Gaulle’s speech, 18 June 1940:




    

      

        

          The leaders who, for many years, have been at the head of the French armies have formed a government. This government, alleging the defeat of our armies, has made contact with the enemy in order to stop the fighting. It is true, we were, we are, overwhelmed by the mechanical, ground and air forces of the enemy. Infinitely more than their number, it is the tanks, the aeroplanes, the tactics of the Germans which are causing us to retreat. It was the tanks, the aeroplanes, the tactics of the Germans that surprised our leaders to the point of bringing them to where they are today.




          But has the last word been said? Must hope disappear? Is defeat final? No!




          Believe me, I who am speaking to you with full knowledge of the facts, and who tell you that nothing is lost for France. The same means that overcame us can bring us victory one day. For France is not alone! She is not alone! She is not alone! She has a vast Empire behind her. She can align with the British Empire that holds the sea and continues the fight. She can, like England, use without limit the immense industry of the United States.




          This war is not limited to the unfortunate territory of our country. This war is not over as a result of the Battle of France. This war is a worldwide war. All the mistakes, all the delays, all the suffering, do not alter the fact that there are, in the world, all the means necessary to crush our enemies one day. Vanquished today by mechanical force, in the future we will be able to overcome by a superior mechanical force. The fate of the world depends on it.




          I, General de Gaulle, currently in London, invite the officers and the French soldiers who are located in British territory or who might end up here, with their weapons or without their weapons, I invite the engineers and the specialised workers of the armament industries who are located in British territory or who might end up here, to put themselves in contact with me.




          Whatever happens, the flame of French resistance must not be extinguished and will not be extinguished.
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    THE MAKING OF A REBEL
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    ‘UN PETIT LILLOIS À PARIS’




    The third of the five children of Henri and Jeanne de Gaulle, Charles was born on 22 November 1890, into a family that was estranged from the Republic and looked back to an older France. The de Gaulle home was in Paris, but, following tradition, his mother went to her mother’s home in Lille to give birth in a context far from the hedonism of the belle époque in the capital.




    Members of the minor aristocracy on the paternal side, the de Gaulles traced their history back to Ireland and to an ancestor who had fought the English at Agincourt. There was a division between those who thought their roots were Flemish in origin and that their name came from van der Waulle – ‘from the rampart’ – and those who traced the line back to Richard de Gaulle, a nobleman in Normandy. Prosperous inhabitants of Paris under the royalty, the family lost much of its money and assets in the Revolution of 1789.




    Charles de Gaulle’s grandfather, Julien, was an archivist and historian, his wife a prolific writer who turned her hand to a stream of romantic novels as well as biographies. They left Paris for Lille where Julien worked in a boarding school, but appear to have been perennially short of money. To raise cash, he sold documents which did not belong to him, and had to leave, moving back to Paris where the couple scraped a living, changing homes constantly. Fervent Catholics, they rejected the Enlightenment and the Revolution. They had a strong sense of charity and identification with those left on one side by society.




    The family of de Gaulle’s mother, the Maillots, settled in Lille in 1872, running factories that wove net to make curtains depicting the fables of La Fontaine. The city was a proud place, with Flemish roots dating back to 1066, its history preserved in ornate medieval buildings, its stately colonnaded fifteenth-century bourse, and its traditional carnivals. In the nineteenth century, it played a significant role in France’s industrial expansion, notably in textiles and metals. With the adjoining agglomerations of Roubaix and Tourcoing, and with the coalfields of north-east France nearby, it was described as a ‘French Manchester’, quintupling its wealth between 1850 and 1914 as running water, electricity and gas street lighting were installed, department stores opened and a tram system linked the city with its neighbours.




    The maternal grandmother, Madame Maillot-Delannoy, lived in an unostentatious house on the rue Princesse outside the city centre. The rooms were of modest size, though the mahogany dining table could be extended to seat twenty. Portraits of Irish, German and French ancestors hung in the drawing room. A veranda at the back gave on to a small courtyard. It was all very self-contained. The tradition of upright simplicity and self-sufficiency would remain with de Gaulle throughout his life, providing him with a highly conventional lifestyle within which to pursue highly unconventional ideas, his solid private existence giving him the platform from which to strut the public stage.




    *




    Henri and Jeanne de Gaulle had their five children in ten years – Xavier (1887), Marie-Agnès (1889), Charles (1890), Jacques (1893) and Pierre (1897). Their parents brought them up to look back to the France of the old monarchy, to the ‘real’ nation in contrast to the ‘legal country’ of the Republic. A veteran of the 1870 war with Germany, wounded in fighting outside Paris, Henri was, in the words of one biographer of his son, ‘more conscious of his duties than of his privileges’. A memorial notice called him ‘a representative of the old true France’. His most famous offspring described him as ‘a man of thought, of culture, of tradition, imbued with the sentiment of the dignity of France’.




    Henri believed that the Revolution of 1789 had been ‘satanic in its essence’. A subscriber to the nationalist Action française newspaper, he regarded the Republic as ‘vile’, and condemned universal suffrage for giving equal weight to the common people and the educated elite. The de Gaulles did not sing ‘La Marseillaise’ or celebrate the national holiday of 14 July. Nor did Henri have any sympathy with the bourgeois capitalism which dominated France. Like most of his compatriots, he was obsessed by the idea of gaining revenge on Germany for France’s defeat in 1870, which had also led to the Third Republic he so detested.




    A clever, learned man, he added to the education of his children with readings of classical French and Roman texts, and instituted a regime of short speeches in Latin after grace at meals. Disapproving of motor cars, he took horse-drawn carriages rather than taxis. He also disliked fountain pens. His erudition and respect for the French language marked his son, whose extraordinary vocabulary and use of language became integral to his claim to personify the nation that spoke this tongue.48




    Henri and Jeanne were first cousins, he twelve years older than her. They were profoundly attached to the Catholic Church. Though Henri began his career as a civil servant at the Interior Ministry, they were inevitably alienated from a regime which made religion the dividing line for politics and society, secularised schools, cemeteries and hospitals, legalised work on Sunday, introduced divorce, removed the crucifixes from law courts and outlawed Catholic orders such as the Jesuits. (Trappists were excused as their silence was thought to make them less threatening.) The de Gaulles had a social conscience and were charitable, but there could be no reconciliation between those who believed ardently in a revealed religion and a Republic which put its faith in the overwhelming power of reason and science.




    Jeanne, a stronger character than her husband, was recalled by her second son as having ‘an intransigent passion for the fatherland equal to her religious piety’. She and her mother imposed a puritanical regime which had no room for the theatre or dancing. If the word amant figured in a traditional song, they replaced it with maman. When given a ration card, Jeanne drew a cross against the line which said ‘sex’. She was said to have despaired of the way in which her children accepted the Republic, and, in old age, called the Popular Front Prime Minister, Léon Blum, ‘a henchman of Satan’. Though he would work with Blum and become the saviour of the Republic, Charles told his sister, Marie-Agnès, shortly before his death: ‘What has often reassured me . . . is the conviction that Mam would have been behind me always and in everything.’49




    The heritage from his parents was highly significant in de Gaulle’s life. There is no record of him rebelling against them. Rather, they gave him values that would remain with him even if, politically, he moved away from their strict creed. Like them, he was ready to stand aside from mainstream opinion and challenge ruling hierarchies, convinced of his rectitude. Like them, he drew strict lines between right and wrong, adopting a Manichean mindset that damned opponents and allowed for no error. Like them, he remained personally prudish, and believed that charity should be a private matter. And, like them, he was careful with money and lived modestly, suspicious of the world of business and finance. ‘I have never been bourgeois,’ he said. ‘The bourgeoisie is wealth . . . My family and I have always been poor.’




    As for religion, the piety practised by his parents was with him from the very start. A crucifix hung above the bed where Charles’ mother gave birth at 4 a.m. on 22 November. Another cross stood on the mantelpiece by the cradle where the baby was laid in a lace robe. He was baptised a few hours later at the ornately decorated eighteenth-century church of Saint-André, with the Christian names Charles André Joseph Marie. His education was at Catholic schools. The first was run by the Brothers of the Christian Schools of Saint Thomas Aquinas in Paris, which he entered just before he reached the age of five, a curly-haired boy who had just started wearing trousers instead of smocks. In 1900, he moved to the Jesuit College of the Immaculate Conception in the rue de Vaugirard, which had evaded the ban on schools run by unauthorised religious congregations by turning itself into a private trust company.




    Henri de Gaulle had become a master there after his ideological gulf with the Republic led him to resign from the Interior Ministry. He taught philosophy and literature, lecturing from a podium with a crucifix on the white wall behind him. The curriculum gave his second son his extensive grounding in the classics. The boy won six prizes in his last year but his elder brother, Xavier, was regarded as more clever while Charles’ unruly nature led his father to remark that he was ‘not what you would call a good pupil’.




    Henri took his children on weekend outings from their six-room flat on the Left Bank to the Arc de Triomphe and Napoleon’s tomb, to the town of Stains, where he had been wounded in the fighting in 1870, and to the public gallery at the National Assembly. Charles recalled that nothing made more of an impression on him that the symbols of France’s glory – night falling on Notre-Dame Cathedral or captured enemy flags fluttering in the army bastion of Les Invalides, and the great glass dome of the Grand Palais towering across the Seine.




    He was enthused by the crowd cheering France’s ally, the Tsar of Russia, the Universal Exhibition of 1900 and military parades. His father ignored his wife’s hostility to the theatre by giving their son a tenth-birthday present of an outing to see two of the most celebrated stars of the day, Sarah Bernhardt and Lucien Guitry, in the major new play, Edmond Rostand’s L’Aiglon, about Napoleon’s offspring – at the age of fifty-five, the great actress used all her art, and tight corsets, to play the role of a dying twenty-one-year-old man. Charles’ own literary gifts were becoming apparent. He wrote a tale in verse about an encounter between a brigand and a middle-class traveller which did well in a competition in Lille. The jury told him he could be paid twenty-five francs or have the work published. He chose the latter.




    When legislation against religious schools led to the closure of the College of the Immaculate Conception in 1906, Charles was sent to another Jesuit college, in Belgium, where he spent a year, learning German and visiting his sister, Marie-Agnès, who had moved to the Belgian town of Charleroi where she married an engineer in 1910. Replying to an accusation that pupils of Jesuits lacked personality, he observed: ‘We will know how to show that is not the case. The future will be great because it will be moulded by our deeds.’50




    Returning to Paris in the autumn of 1908, he was enrolled at the Collège Stanislas in Montparnasse, founded a hundred years earlier by a religious order which had been taken over by a lay administration to save it from closure but retained its religious character. By then, he had decided that he wanted to become a soldier; so he concentrated on the entry examination for the leading military school, Saint-Cyr. He wrote another short story about a love affair between a French officer and a young lady in New Caledonia, but decided to publish it under a pseudonym because of the subject matter.




    To improve his German linguistic skills, he visited the Black Forest, where he saved money by staying at monasteries and with priests, went to mass at 7 a.m., and met veterans of the 1870 war, one of whom recounted the bombardment of Strasbourg with ‘fanatical enthusiasm’ brought on by overconsumption of schnapps. He noted how the Germans regarded the French as ‘bohemians who like disorder and never agree with one another’.51




    He kept up his links with Lille through regular visits to Madame Maillot-Delannoy, picking up the local ch’timi dialect, which he used to talk to dogs later in life. Though he claimed to embody the whole nation, de Gaulle was, as he once wrote, ‘a man of the north’. He described himself in his youth as ‘un petit Lillois à Paris’, ‘a little Lille boy in Paris’. For him, this was the region where France’s destiny had been played out against foreign aggression. In speeches much later, he would refer to ‘us people of the north’. He prized the way they had served France, and what he called their ability to confront the truth. As the writer Paul-Marie de la Gorce put it: ‘When he evoked the French people, it was above all the population of the north he had in mind. When he spoke to the French, it was of the people of the north that he thought. When he chose the words with which to address them, the terms that came to him were those which struck a certain northern sensibility.’




    The extended family also stayed in the north for its holidays, renting villas along the coast at Wimereux, Wimille and Malo-les-Bains, until Henri bought a large two-storey house surrounded by vines, wheat fields and truffles in the green region of the Dordogne. Getting there involved an interminable train journey across France, followed by a final stage in a horse-drawn carriage. Comfort was rudimentary. Boys and girls slept in separate dormitories. But, if Henri and Charles both wanted to get some peace and quiet on their vacations, the crush of the family was as great in the Dordogne as on the Channel. Looking at holiday photographs in later years, the General said the de Gaulles resembled the eccentric provincial family the Fenouillards, the subject of a popular illustrated book of the time. ‘My father and I detested the milling around,’ he recalled. ‘We wanted each of us to have his own space and to be able to keep his distance.’52




    *




    The France in which de Gaulle grew up marked him profoundly. He shared the pride of his compatriots in their country’s achievements. In culture, it could boast the Impressionist painters and great sculptors such as Rodin, writers of the stature of Zola, Proust, Rimbaud and Verlaine and composers like Debussy, while it led the way in the new art of the cinema. French scientists were among world leaders. The Eiffel Tower showed off France’s technological skill. The Suez Canal was the work of a French entrepreneur. The Universal Exhibition in Paris in 1900 attracted fifty million people. The Bon Marché was the world’s biggest department store while the Moulin Rouge, the cancan and the courtesans known as the grandes horizontales incarnated the racier side of the belle époque that visitors such as Britain’s future King Edward VII found so alluring.




    In 1900, the French capital hosted the Olympic Games as well as opening the first métropolitain underground railway line. The country was a leader in developing aviation and motor cars for tourism and sport – the first Tour de France bicycle race was staged in 1903. France’s Empire covered about ten million square kilometres, encompassing some fifty million people outside the metropolitan hexagon. It stretched from the northern shores of the Mediterranean to Indochina, from the South Pacific to islands off Canada. Knowing how far their country’s reach extended was a reassurance for the French that they belonged in the very first rank of nations with a ‘civilising mission’ by which countries in Africa and Asia would be brought the virtues of their culture and language.




    De Gaulle’s feelings went beyond simple pride. He vaunted nationalism as the ‘most generous and disinterested’ of feelings and quoted approvingly the saying of the militant polemicist Paul Déroulède, that ‘the man who does not love his mother more than other mothers and his own country more than other countries loves neither his mother nor his country’. But a second national trait which was evident around 1900 also marked him through his life, and fitted naturally with his view of himself as a superior man who would be needed to save the nation. This was the concern that, for all its plus points, France was in decline and that its people and leaders were unable to live up to the greatness their state should exhibit. Men were said to be losing their masculinity, and the population as a whole to be in the grip of neurasthénie, a depression heading towards degeneracy. ‘It is written in the destinies of this country to find its men always inferior to circumstances,’ a leading politician, Jules Ferry, lamented.




    The particular anxiety was the growing power of the Reich across the Rhine. The crushing defeat of France’s army under Napoleon III in 1870 by the Germans, who then proclaimed their national unity in the Hall of Mirrors at Versailles, bred a preoccupation with gaining revenge, epitomised by the need to recover the lost territories of Alsace and Lorraine in the east. But there was a nagging sense of worry as Germany’s population and industrial performance increased far faster than France’s. Berlin challenged France’s colonial position in Africa and France was obliged to join in a naval arms race that boosted military spending till it gobbled up a third of the national budget. There was also a jarring moment when expansion in Africa brought conflict with Britain on the Upper Nile in the Fashoda Incident of 1898. Deciding that it needed London’s friendship against Germany, the Foreign Ministry ordered the withdrawal of its expeditionary force. For nationalists, it was a terrible humiliation; de Gaulle regarded this as the most traumatic event of his childhood.




    When they looked inward, the French had plenty of reasons for concern, too. Population growth fell to near zero. Second in the European population stakes at the start of the nineteenth century, France ranked only fifth by the end of it. There were frequent warnings of moral and psychological decay, notably from alcohol and syphilis, supplemented by a jeremiad from a Dr Ludovic O’Fallowell about women bicycle riders falling prey to ‘voluptuous sensations’. The country was socially backward. Living conditions outside smart metropolitan centres were often deplorable, working hours extremely long and state welfare virtually non-existent. Women were regarded as homemakers with no place in public life – and certainly not the vote, partly because of lay politicians’s fears that they might back religious parties. Though France remained a major financial power and drew significant revenue from colonies, Britain clearly led in both departments. Industry stagnated between 1870 and 1895; factory output fell from 9 per cent of the world total in 1880 to 6 per cent by 1900. The middle class were greater savers, but their money went mainly into government securities and Russian loans rather than into companies.53




    Politically, the Third Republic, given formal legal status by a one-vote majority in the National Assembly in 1875, was dominated by a broad moderate bourgeois coalition which saw lay education as the means of establishing a Republic of Reason. Any serious threat from the Left had been set aside by the crushing of the Paris Commune in 1871. The Right was disunited and badly led, though it constituted a continuing rejectionist front which dreamed of a return of the monarchy. After a crisis in 1877, the executive authority of the President of the Republic was overshadowed by that of parliament. Prime Ministers were often in a weak position since they depended on the approval of a legislature in which the division of the dominant centre into three groups made coherent majorities rare. Ministerial instability impeded major policy initiatives.




    The system reflected the broad desire of the middle class for a settled existence in which awkward issues were obfuscated. This did not prevent periodic shocks. In 1888–9, a dashing general, Georges Boulanger, who had been sacked from the army for political agitation against the Republic, put himself forward as a patriot ready to revive the nation. His supporters won by-elections, drawing on anybody who had a grudge against the regime, be they royalists, rural Catholics or urban radicals – the propagandist Maurice Barrès exalted ‘national socialism’. The general on the white horse lacked staying power, however. He fled to the arms of his mistress in Brussels when the government spread rumours that he was to be arrested for high treason. Though his supporters and parties of the Right did well at a national election, Boulanger remained in exile, ruined and devastated by the death of his mistress; then he shot himself on her grave.




    More serious was the protracted trauma of the Dreyfus affair which split the country, sharpened the conflict between republican advocates of a lay regime and Catholic reactionaries, between anti-Semites and those who saw Jews as French people like any others. Captain Alfred Dreyfus, convicted of spying for Germany in a trumped-up case in 1894 and sent to Devil’s Island in French Guiana, became a scapegoat for the enemies of the Republic, and a symbol for those who defended values they traced back to 1789. A Jew, he personified the fears of Semitic conspiracies against the nation spread by pamphleteers like Edmond Drumont whose tract, La France Juive, went through two hundred editions between 1886 and 1914. The virulence of attacks by the Catholic Assumptionist teaching order deepened the religious–lay divide, which was simultaneously sharpened by a toughening of the Vatican’s approach towards the anti-clerical Republic.




    A firm believer in the army, Dreyfus could not rouse himself to offer a strong defence which would have entailed exposing the skulduggery of the officers who accused him, while his bourgeois background and military loyalty led some left-wingers to cast him as a class enemy. His condemnation was not quashed until 1906. Even then, the divisions shown up by the affair continued when the Army Minister of a subsequent government was discovered to be using informers and Freemasons to collect damaging information about Catholic officers.




    A family tradition has it that Henri de Gaulle thought Dreyfus had been wrongly convicted, but he appears to have been less concerned with the issue of the innocence or guilt of an individual and more with the way in which the army had allowed its reputation and prestige to be tarnished. For his son Charles, Dreyfus was, first and foremost, a member of the forces, regardless of race. More than half a century later, de Gaulle was told that the wife of an ambassador being posted to an Arab country was a descendant of Dreyfus. ‘Yes, I know,’ he cut in. ‘She is the granddaughter of a French officer.’ While acknowledging the miscarriage of justice in the Dreyfus affair and the ‘forgeries, manoeuvres and abuses of the prosecution’, he wrote that his main sorrow was about the way in which the affair acted to ‘poison political life and fan political passion’. Though the crisis had been detonated by officers who fabricated the case of treason against Dreyfus and then tried to prevent the truth emerging and justice being done, de Gaulle would depict the army as the victim of ‘criticisms and insults’ as the military ideal was weakened and ‘a so-called social ideal replaced it’.




    While Émile Zola’s open letter to the President of the Republic, with its ringing title of J’accuse, rallied the pro-Dreyfus camp, opponents of the Republic found a new voice in the Action française movement. Founded in 1898 under the influence of the reactionary thinker Charles Maurras, it aimed to ‘strangle the wench’, as the movement termed the regime. It advocated a popular monarchy to free the nation from the ‘four confederates’ of the ‘anti-France’ – Jews, Protestants, Freemasons and foreigners. The Nationalists who adopted its teachings became the largest single party on the Paris city council and had fifteen deputies elected from the capital in 1902, one proclaiming himself ‘an anti-Semitic Republican’ who demanded that ‘150,000 Jews and their lackeys, 25,000 Freemasons, stop oppressing and ruining 38 million French people’.




    Others turned to socialism, syndicalism or anarchism. Religion offered a haven for some. Evangelical Catholicism flourished. The huge edifice of the Sacré-Cœur was built to float above Paris at the summit of Montmartre. The cult of Joan of Arc mushroomed as the separation of Church and state was declared in 1905. A series of scandals heightened cynicism about politicians. ‘We have been continually betrayed by our teachers and our leaders,’ wrote the poet Charles Péguy.54




    Amid these fluctuating currents, the army offered the best way to serve France for an intensely patriotic young man whose background and beliefs set him at odds with the regime. De Gaulle would note the ‘fascination’ the army exercised on bourgeois youth. ‘Officers hoped for revenge and glory,’ he added. ‘They were given respect.’ In his memoirs, he remembered that he idealised the prospect of war that would enable him to help his country in its ‘gigantic trials’. He regarded violent confrontation between nations as inevitable, and vaunted the ‘virility’ of citizens ready to defend their fatherland as compared to ‘the love of gain and the wish for vice’ provoked by prolonged peace.55




    De Gaulle’s interest in the military went back to his boyhood when he had spent his pocket money building up a collection of 1,800 toy soldiers which he used to stage great historic battles; he always commanded the French and Swiss troops. At the age of fifteen, he wrote a detailed account of a coming war with Germany, putting himself at the head of 200,000 men who won repeated victories with gallant bayonet charges amid storms of bullets. Having completed his schooling, he sat the examination to enter the military college of Saint-Cyr in 1908. He finished only 119th out of 221 successful candidates, but at least he was in France’s main training school for officers.




    Before going to the college, cadets spent a year with a military unit. Rather than picking a dashing colonial or cavalry outfit, de Gaulle chose the 33rd Infantry Regiment, based in Arras, just fifty-five kilometres from the family’s second home in Lille. Though it had fought in Napoleon’s campaigns, the 33rd was a workaday unit. Its barracks were rudimentary, discipline was slack and there was a lot of drinking. But there were practical reasons for de Gaulle’s decision: his family did not have the money to enable him to pay for a horse, and he preferred northern France to North Africa or Indochina. With his confident bearing and extensive knowledge, the eighteen-year-old made a distinct impression on those around him. Explaining why he had not named the young man as a sergeant, his captain asked how he could do so to somebody who would only feel at ease as a general.




    His offensive spirit chimed with the teachings of the most influential French military theorist of the day, Colonel Louis de Grandmaison, who preached the importance of willpower and offensive tactics, epitomised by the bayonet charge. But de Gaulle had a typically Spartan view of military life. Cadets could have ‘neither loves, nor homes’, he would recall. They were destined for tiredness, privation, uncertainties. They would be killed first and in the greatest numbers – ‘and it is very good that it is thus,’ he added.56




    In October 1910, de Gaulle finished his stint in Arras and travelled in heavy rain to Versailles where Saint-Cyr was located. ‘When I entered the army, it was one of the greatest things in the world,’ he remembered. The daily routine was highly demanding. Reveille was at 6.30 a.m. and studies continued until 7.30 p.m. From the start, de Gaulle stood out from his comrades; his height gained him the nickname of ‘the big asparagus’. At a hazing initiation ceremony, he was called out by an older cadet wielding a billiard cue. Showing the self-assurance that already marked him, he stood up calmly and impressed everybody with a rendition of the celebrated ‘big nose’ speech of Cyrano de Bergerac in the play of the same name – although that did not save him from being knocked down on to the backs of other youths kneeling on the floor.




    Reports praised his conduct, manners, intelligence, character, attitude, zeal, military spirit and resistance to fatigue. His marching was rated highly. The only weak points were sport and shooting. He graduated thirteenth out of 210. A photograph showed him immaculate in a five-buttoned tunic and plumed helmet, with his sword. ‘A highly gifted cadet,’ his passing-out report noted. ‘Conscientious and earnest worker. Excellent state of mind. Will make an excellent officer.’ Supplementary notes by superior officers remarked on his calmness and powers of command and decision.




    The newly graduated de Gaulle was keen for war to restore France’s status. Everybody in the French army, from the commanding generals to the rank-and-file infantry, ‘should have only one idea – advance, advance to the attack, reach the Germans and skewer them or make them run away,’ he wrote. As they rushed forward, the French troops should not pause to look after their wounded, he added; ‘the best service one can render to wounded comrades is to win a quick victory. Then they will be cared for, quietly and well.’ Half a century later, he recalled that he had no horror of conflict with Germany. For him, it was merely an ‘unknown adventure’.57




    In September 1912, he returned from Saint-Cyr to the 33rd Regiment in Arras with the rank of second lieutenant. Capital of the Artois region, Arras had prospered as a mining and industrial town, and had a rich upper class which gave fashionable receptions and dinners in their town houses. For the second lieutenant, however, the main attraction was the commander of the 33rd Regiment, Colonel Philippe Pétain, who, he recalled in his memoirs, showed him ‘what the gift and art of command were worth’. Also a man of the north, Pétain was known for rigour and independence of mind. He alienated superiors with his sarcasm and self-confidence. Though he went to mass, he said he had lost his religious faith. When asked by republican inspectors to list practising Catholic officers, he replied: ‘I don’t know. I’m always in the first row and I don’t turn round.’




    The relationship between the two men would be one of the themes of their lives for the next three and a half decades. At the start, there was mutual admiration – when the lieutenant objected to his colonel’s judgement on a seventeenth-century battle, Pétain did not take umbrage but noted his subordinate’s ‘real value which provides fine hope for the future’. Pétain’s independence of mind and blunt speaking paralleled the way in which the younger man would set out his own stall. Each was a rebel in his time, ready to risk his career as a result.




    Handsome and blue-eyed, with a practically bald head, Pétain was in his mid-fifties when de Gaulle joined the regiment. He was an inveterate womaniser. ‘I love two things above all else,’ he said, ‘sex and the infantry’; there was speculation subsequently that he and the junior officer shared a mistress. This story stemmed from a letter sent to de Gaulle in 1945 by a certain woman from Arras. Pressing his finger on the paper so hard that the nail cut into it, the General said: ‘It was in her place . . . at Arras that I met Pétain.’




    The colonel was moved to the command of another infantry brigade in April 1914, and was preparing to end his military career by the time war broke out, promotion to the rank of general seemingly ruled out by his unwillingness to curb his tongue. Remaining in Arras, Lieutenant de Gaulle found provincial barracks life irksome. He showed an artistic side in pencil drawings of the surrounding countryside; since photographs were still quite rare, young officers were encouraged to record the terrain round their barracks. There was no doubting the way in which he stood out. His demeanour earned him the nickname of ‘le Connétable’ – ‘the Constable’ – the term for a high-ranking medieval functionary who led royal armies and was charged with the peace of the nation.




    However, the army to which he belonged was not in the best of shape. There were mutinies. Reservists often did not turn up for training, or were exempted for agricultural work. Germany spent twice as much as France on armaments and equipment, and the size of its forces swelled; it was not until 1913 that the National Assembly introduced three-year compulsory military service to boost France’s numbers from 450,000 to 750,000. The high command did not take proper account of the impact of modern weapons, such as machine guns and heavy artillery. Fortresses on France’s eastern border were allowed to fall into disrepair. The head of the Staff College declared aircraft useless for the armed forces. When it was suggested that the infantry’s kepis should be replaced by steel helmets, the commander-in-chief, Joseph Joffre, replied: ‘We will not have time to manufacture them for I will have wrung the Boches’ necks in two months.’58




    Nor was there any evolution on the political front where ministerial infighting brought eleven changes of government between 1909 and 1914. Then, on 3 August 1914, the outbreak of war created national unity. ‘There are no more parties,’ wrote President Raymond Poincaré. The Left, which had been shaken by the assassination of its icon, Jean Jaurès, by a fanatic inspired by right-wing press attacks, took up the cause of fighting in a just struggle for republican values and the rights of man against Prussian imperialism. Two Socialists joined the government. Decrees for the closure of religious establishments were revoked in the name of national cohesion.




    To cement that unity, it was important that France should be seen to be fighting a defensive war. ‘For the sake of public opinion, let the Germans put themselves in the wrong,’ concluded a Cabinet meeting as events unfolded after the assassination of the Austro-Hungarian Archduke Franz Ferdinand at Sarajevo. Berlin obliged while the mechanism of alliances in Europe propelled the Reich, the Austro-Hungarian Empire, France, Britain and Russia to war. On 2 August, the Kaiser’s forces invaded Luxembourg. Poincaré declared a state of emergency. Berlin demanded free passage for its forces through Belgium, which King Albert refused. On the false pretext that French aeroplanes had bombed Nuremberg, Germany declared war on France. On 4 August, its army entered Belgium, treating the guarantee of neutrality dating back to 1839 as a scrap of paper it would not allow to stand in its way. That led Britain to declare war. Unlike 1870, France was not alone.




    Poincaré proclaimed ‘a sacred union in the presence of the enemy’ to enable France to fight for liberty, justice and reason. The nation, the twenty-three-year-old de Gaulle wrote, would ‘resume, once more, its march towards destiny’ and the army could serenely await the ‘days when everything will depend on it’. On 5 August, the 33rd Infantry Regiment marched out of its barracks in Arras to the local station, where it headed eastwards to confront the enemy advancing through Belgium. ‘Goodbye to my rooms, my books, my keepsakes,’ de Gaulle recorded in his notebook. ‘How life seems more intense, how the smallest things take on a depth when all may perhaps end.’ Thirty-seven years later, he told dinner companions he had become convinced that he would be killed on his first day in action. Writing to his mother at the time, however, he told her he was ‘full of go and confidence’ and that ‘the troops are absolutely admirable’.59
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    WAR




    I


    Bayonet charge




    Like France’s military planners, de Gaulle had expected the Germans to attack through the Vosges mountains from Alsace and Lorraine which had been lost in the Franco-Prussian War of 1870. But the imperial high command applied (if imperfectly) the scheme drawn up by the chief of staff, Alfred Graf von Schlieffen, which ignored Belgian neutrality and tried to smash a path to north-eastern France, aiming to encircle Paris and knock the country out of the war before France’s Russian ally could mobilise in the east. The job of the 33rd Infantry Regiment was to help hold this advance.




    The infantrymen travelled a hundred kilometres by train, and then marched up to thirty kilometres a day. At night, the officers lodged in houses while the men slept in barns and stables. On 13 August the regiment crossed into Belgium in bright sunshine, greeted warmly by the locals and watched by an enemy spotter plane. De Gaulle, who was responsible for the regiment’s catering, helped to cook dinner for fellow officers; the meal was ‘very gay even if mediocre’, he recorded in his diary. The soldiers then headed on through the night to the town of Dinant, where the Germans held a citadel on a cliff a hundred metres high on the left bank of the River Meuse. Reaching their destination, the troopers tried to get some rest, while de Gaulle and another junior officer purchased two eggs for each of the men under their command.60




    At 6 a.m. on 15 August 1914, German artillery opened up. De Gaulle experienced ‘two seconds of physical emotion, a tightening of my throat’, but did not seek shelter. ‘I was not in any way alarmed,’ he recalled. He drank a cup of coffee in a roadside café, and went to sit on a street bench, walking over to a trench from time to time to exchange pleasantries with privates sheltering there. After the initial shock of their first shelling, the soldiers began to joke. Then stretcher-bearers started to pass carrying the wounded, and de Gaulle was told of the deaths of officers he knew.




    Ordered to lead a bayonet charge to keep the enemy from a railway bridge, and racing forward at the head of his platoon wielding his sword under a hail of fire, he felt as if he was two people – ‘one running like an automaton and the other anxiously watching him’. A bullet hit him in the knee. As he fell, a sergeant dropped on top of him, dead.




    His leg numb, he crawled on, his sword dragging on the ground; later, he wondered ‘how it came about that I was not riddled like a sieve’. Reaching a bridge across the Meuse, he entered a house full of wounded where a major urged everybody to start praying because they were doomed to die. The lieutenant told him to shut up, as terror-struck old women living in the house gave the soldiers coffee.




    Ordered to retreat, de Gaulle limped his way back to the French line, his coat soaked in blood. He slept in an abandoned school after eating two raw eggs. It was only on the following morning that he went to the medical service; according to his son, he was left lying on a stretcher for three days without proper medical attention. Then he was driven to his sister’s home in Charleroi. She came out of the house to kiss him in the car and he was taken to the station to get a train back to France. This involved a four-hour wait – still on his stretcher. Reaching Paris, he was operated on by a surgeon who told him he was fortunate not to have contracted gangrene, which would have meant amputating his leg.61




    From Paris, de Gaulle was sent to a military hospital in Lyon where he underwent unspecified ‘electrical’ treatment before being moved to Cognac to recuperate. A story he wrote at the time told of a love affair between a lieutenant the same age as himself and his captain’s wife. As their regiment came under fire, the captain handed the young man his pocketbook, asking him to give it to his wife if he should be killed, as he was. The lieutenant was wounded, and was taken to hospital in Lyon where the captain’s widow visited him. ‘She took the pocketbook and looked at it through her tears for a long while,’ the story continues. ‘Her husband had had it delivered to her by her lover. In her lover’s eyes she read the irreparable. She moved to take the young man’s hand, but he grasped both of hers and kissed them with the tenderness of a farewell.’62




    II


    War of extermination




    In the month after de Gaulle was wounded, four German armies used firepower, concentration of forces and enveloping tactics to advance through north-east France. The 320,000-man First Army got to within fifty kilometres of Paris, and the government withdrew to Bordeaux, as it would do again in 1940. However, the invaders were exhausted and their lines of communication stretched to breaking point. Seeing that the First Army had left its right flank exposed, Joffre, an old-fashioned figure who declined to use the telephone, ordered a counter-offensive. In September, the French and British advanced sixty-five kilometres on a 260-kilometre line on the River Marne. Von Schlieffen’s successor as chief of staff, Helmuth von Moltke, was reported to have told the Kaiser, ‘Your Majesty, we have lost the war.’ ‘The spell was broken,’ de Gaulle wrote in a history of the French army. ‘For the first time in over a hundred years, France had beaten Germany in a big-scale battle. Psychologically, the game was won.’




    But it was to be a very long and hugely bloody process before final victory was achieved, a process in which the young de Gaulle would be one of the millions of men who fought a conflict very different from the offensives envisaged by Colonel de Grandmaison. The siege war of the trenches became an assembly line of industrial combat which sucked in the youth of France, Britain and Germany and spat it out as dead or wounded. As the French troops did, after all, exchange their cloth kepis for metal helmets and abandoned their dashing red trousers for drab uniforms that made them stand out less, de Gaulle asked in a letter to his mother: ‘What is this war except a war of extermination?’63




    *




    In October 1914, de Gaulle returned to the front. His regiment’s forward trench was only forty-five metres from the Germans. Awakened by artillery shells on his first morning back, he noted how French guns fired at nearly point-blank range at houses occupied by enemy soldiers and had ‘the pigs screaming as they bleed in their holes’. German snipers crouched on the roofs, ‘and, as soon as a man steps out of the trench, whack!’ On some days, there was compensation for the officers when the company cyclist brought them Champagne or Sauternes for lunch.




    Roll calls recorded a mounting toll of dead. In a letter to his parents, Charles noted that, when he asked about any of the young officers from his class at Saint-Cyr, he was told they had been killed or wounded. Twenty years later, he recalled the effect of constant combat – ‘For hours, sometimes for days, the artillery barrage pounds positions, and breaks spirits. The survivors are depressed and apathetic. Without sleep, food or water, feeling abandoned by God and man, the soldiers have one hope – that their ordeal should end quickly, no matter how.’ He grew increasingly angry with the politicians in Paris as he contrasted ‘the long anguish of ever-threatening death and unrelieved misery’ of the soldiers with the manoeuvring and profiteering by civilians. ‘Parliament is becoming more and more odious and stupid,’ he wrote to his mother. ‘Rather than running their departments, ministers spend all their time at debates in the National Assembly and in dealing with ludicrous requests and injunctions from any old wine merchant whom politics has turned into a deputy . . . We will be victors as soon as we have swept away this scum,64 and there will be no Frenchman who will not cry with joy when that happens.’ (His view of the inefficiency of the politicians in Paris was shared by Pétain who had become a general as the war revived his career; he told Poincaré that victory could only be won under a head of state acting as a dictator.) But de Gaulle also criticised the ‘grocers’ in command of the troops who sacrificed men in hopeless attacks.




    At the end of 1914, when France had lost 300,000 men killed and twice as many wounded or missing, the 33rd Regiment was moved to Champagne where the mud was deep and Christmas was marked by heavy shelling. De Gaulle, who had had a smart uniform made for him at the Belle Jardinière department store in Paris, was promoted to the rank of captain and decorated with the Croix de Guerre for bravery. He asked his mother to send him socks and told her that the gloves she had given him were much too small. He was impervious to danger. One day, when he was inspecting the firing line, a shell landed nearby. Two other officers threw themselves to the ground, but de Gaulle remained standing. ‘Were you frightened, gentlemen?’ he asked. On 10 March 1915, his left hand was hit by a shell splinter; untreated, the wound became infected and he was evacuated. In hospital in the Auvergne, he caught scarlet fever and had his pistol stolen.




    Returning to his company on 14 June 1915, he supervised the strengthening of defences, told his men off for not keeping their weapons sufficiently clean, organised a communal shower, gave detailed instructions for a song and dance show to ‘distract the men and raise their morale’, and offered a reward of 0.05 francs for each rat killed. He punished a drunken sergeant major and complained about the failure of a cyclist from another company to salute him. He also assured his soldiers that, if he was obliged to be severe, ‘your captain . . . loves you all the same’. Fifty years later, visiting the battlefront as President of the Republic, he remembered the names of men who had fought beside him. When one of those accompanying him expressed astonishment, he replied: ‘If you had gone through that war, you would have known the kind of relationships established on the eve of an attack among those . . . who were going to die together a few hours later.’65




    Heavy rain at the end of 1915 brought flooding, which, he told his mother, meant that the company ‘lived like frogs’. He and his men slept in beds suspended from the ceiling of their shelters. A bombardment forced him to cancel a plan to eat venison and ortolans with the captain of a neighbouring company. For Christmas, his mother sent him boots, a waterproof coat, a waistcoat and a lamp. In February 1916, his regiment was ordered to move to the city of Verdun in Lorraine, the furthest eastern stretch of territory controlled by the French.




    Three hundred and twenty kilometres east of Paris, the city and its fortress at Douaumont had resisted a German attack in 1914. Now, the two countries’ armies faced one another across a bend of the Meuse. Von Moltke’s successor as German chief of staff, Erich von Falkenhayn, had pinpointed it as the scene for a decisive battle in which ‘the forces of France will bleed to death’.




    On 21 February 1916, the Kaiser’s army unleashed a bombardment of more than a million shells. Phlegmatic as ever, Joffre maintained his habit of getting plenty of sleep at the army headquarters in Chantilly, north of Paris. But his deputy, Édouard de Castelnau, witnessed the fear and chaos when he visited the battleground. He ordered that the right bank of the Meuse must be held whatever the cost, and urged the appointment of Pétain to command the defence.




    Instructions were issued for the former commander of the 33rd Infantry Regiment to take on the job, but Pétain could not be found; he was in Paris seeing his mistress. An aide, Bernard Serrigny, tracked him down to the Hôtel Terminus opposite the Gare du Nord, and the two men went to see Joffre the following morning. Though the commander-in-chief told Pétain that ‘things are not going badly at all’, those around him were panicking that Verdun was about to fall.




    Pétain set off immediately through deep snow, and found on his arrival that the enemy had taken the Douaumont fortress and were within five kilometres of the city. Despite a bout of pneumonia, the general left his bed to draw a three-line defensive plan on a map with a piece of charcoal. Telling the troops ‘France has her eyes on you’, he issued his war cry – ‘They will not pass.’




    The scale of losses soared as Pétain initiated a conveyor-belt system, known as the ‘mill wheel’. Huge columns of men moved into battle in an endless procession through the mud while shell-shocked survivors were pulled back to recuperate before returning to combat. In his memoirs, Pétain recalled how their eyes ‘stared into space as if transfixed by a vision of terror’. His tactic held the line, but the constant demand for more men alienated Joffre, who wanted to concentrate on a battle shaping up on the Somme. Having also got on the wrong side of Poincaré when the President visited the front, Pétain found himself moved from direct command of the battle after two months, though retaining overall authority. Still, he went down in history as ‘the Victor of Verdun’.




    The battle stretched for 298 days through the winter mud and summer heat. It was, wrote the poet Paul Valéry, ‘a complete war in itself’. In all, 259 of France’s 330 infantry regiments took part. The French suffered 378,777 dead, wounded and missing. There were 330,000 dead among the Germans, who introduced new forms of gas and sent forward units with flame-throwers bearing the insignia of a death’s head. A pilot flying over the battlefield saw ‘that sinister brown belt, a strip of murdered nature. It seems to belong to another world. Every sign of humanity has been swept away.’ The route to and from the front became known as the Voie Sacrée (the Sacred Way). Only a great figure of Christ would be an appropriate monument to ‘such an avalanche of conflict and sorrows’, wrote the Jesuit philosopher Teilhard de Chardin, who served there as a stretcher-bearer.66




    Four days into the battle, de Gaulle’s company moved to the village of Douaumont below the fortress lost to the Germans. At 6.30 a.m. on 2 March 1916, heavy German shelling began, followed by three infantry attacks. The captain was sent out on a reconnaissance mission under heavy fire. ‘The earth trembled without a pause; the noise was unbelievable,’ the regimental journal recorded. ‘All telephone wires had been cut and any messenger sent out was a dead man.’ The shelling killed or wounded all but thirty-eight of the 180 men in de Gaulle’s unit as the Germans got to within twenty metres of its position and encircled it.




    ‘It was then that this magnificent feat was performed,’ the regimental journal recorded. The captain led a charge straight at the enemy. A sergeant behind him was killed. ‘There was a terrible hand-to-hand struggle in which these brave men received blows from rifle butts and bayonets from every side until they were overpowered,’ according to the journal. The company perished, ‘selling its life dearly and falling gloriously’. After flinging a grenade, its captain was brought down by a bayonet thrust into his right thigh – one account says he got this after jumping into a shell crater in which several Germans were sheltering. Overcome by poison gas, he passed out.




    Just before entering the army in 1909, de Gaulle wrote a verse stating, ‘when I have to die, I would like it to be on the battlefield’. At the age of twenty-five, it seemed that his wish had been granted. He was given up for dead. Visiting the front, his father was told that Charles had ‘done his duty to the end’. ‘Fell in the mêlée,’ Pétain wrote in the Official Journal. ‘An incomparable officer in all respects.’67




    III


    The prisoner




    In fact, Captain de Gaulle had been pulled out of the shell hole by enemy soldiers and taken behind their lines, where a captured French doctor treated his wounds. Several accounts of exactly what had happened to him at Douaumont circulated in subsequent years. One version, signed by Pétain in 1919, said that, finding his company surrounded on three sides after undergoing an appalling bombardment, he ‘led his men in a violent assault and fierce hand-to-hand fighting, the only solution he judged compatible with his feeling of military honour’. This, the General wrote later, went far beyond the facts; how far his reaction reflected his natural sense of propriety and personal modesty cannot be determined. In a letter to his sister in March 1916, he wrote that he had been ‘wounded by a bayonet thrust, but not badly’. Much later, anti-Gaullists alleged that he had surrendered. Told of the claim, he shrugged and said nothing.




    ‘You can guess my sadness at finishing the campaign like this!’ he wrote to his parents in May 1916. Later he would say that being taken prisoner was ‘a shameful misfortune which one has to avenge at any cost’. It was ‘like being cuckolded’. He felt he no longer counted for anything. ‘It seems to me that throughout my life, be it short or long, this regret will never leave me,’ he lamented in a letter to his mother. ‘May it at least guide me to think and act more and better.’ In fact, his period in captivity would do much to form and confirm his character.68




    The wounded captain was transferred by the Germans to a military hospital in Mainz, and then to a prison camp in Lower Saxony. Two months after his arrival, the guards discovered a hole in a wall which they took for an escape attempt. In reprisal, the prisoners were shut up in a communal room for all but one hour of the day, and forbidden newspapers and tobacco – Charles wrote to his father that this would enable him to give up smoking. (It did not.) He devoted himself to improving his German and studying Greek and Roman history.




    As the battle of the Somme was raging on the Western Front through the second half of 1916, he was taken to Prussian Silesia and then on to a camp in a former saw mill at Szczuczyn in Lithuania for prisoners suspected of seeking to escape. De Gaulle continued the role of catering supervisor he had exercised with his regiment, ladling out soup to fellow captives. He began his day by reading German newspapers and analysing their reports. When he had finished, fellow prisoners gathered round to hear his conclusions. ‘It was not a discussion,’ wrote an author who obtained recollections of de Gaulle’s companions. ‘It was an exposition.’




    His lifelong vocation as a teacher had begun. So had his voracious search for knowledge. He read as widely as possible and scrawled copious observations in his notebooks, remarking on how and why great figures of history had succeeded or failed.




    Despite this intellectual activity, he yearned to escape and return to the front. Before long, he and a lieutenant began to dig an escape tunnel. When the guards found this, the French prisoners were punished as a group, which included the removal of their Russian batmen. The camp was closed down five months after de Gaulle arrived, and he was sent to the high-security Fort IX at Ingolstadt on the Danube in Bavaria, which held other French and Russian attempted escapees. The main building was closely guarded, but de Gaulle noticed that the hospital annexe for prisoners, located in the town, offered better chances of absconding. So he formulated a plan to get into the infirmary by requesting his parents send him a bottle of picric acid, supposedly to treat chilblains. He swallowed a large dose of it one night and was horrified by what he saw in the mirror the next morning. His complexion was muddy, his eyes yellow. His urine turned dark. He was afraid that he had overdone the dose. But he achieved his objective: he was sent to the hospital, where he met another French officer, Captain Dupret, who was equally intent on escaping. They decided that the best route lay through another hospital, filled with wounded from Verdun.




    A French prisoner who worked as an electrician in the second hospital concealed civilian clothes there for them. For their part the two Frenchmen suborned a German male nurse by paying him to supply them with brandy and postage stamps, and then threatening to denounce him if he did not do their bidding. He bought them a military cap, and, after what de Gaulle called ‘supreme resistance’, handed over his military trousers. In the afternoon of Sunday 29 October 1916, Dupret put on the cap and trousers, and a large apron, as worn by the staff. He appeared to be an attendant escorting a patient, de Gaulle. They passed the guards, and unlocked the door to the room where the civilian clothes were stowed away. Then they walked out.




    Their target was the Swiss border, three hundred and twenty kilometres away. By day, they hid in the woods, moving only at night through rainy weather. They ate biscuits and chocolate from supplies they had accumulated from parcels from home. On the night of 5 November, they reached the small town of Pfaffenhofen, near Ulm, where a local festival was being celebrated. ‘With our appearance and not having shaved for five days, we looked like tramps,’ de Gaulle recalled. A crowd followed them, and they were arrested. Taken to Ingolstadt, de Gaulle was punished with sixty days’ solitary confinement on a rudimentary diet and without reading matter in an unlit cell. He behaved himself, hoping to be moved to another detention centre from which escape would be easier. Released from solitary, he quizzed new arrivals at Ingolstadt and drew up a list of escape attempts from other camps and the reasons for their failure. On this basis, he was able to advise French soldiers being moved elsewhere of their best chances of getting away in what one successful evader dubbed his ‘escape school’.69




    He continued to read German newspapers, following the course of the conflict, reading between the lines for signs that the tide of war was turning and studying the conduct of military leaders. That gave him the basis for a series of lectures to fellow prisoners in which he began to formulate ideas about the failures of civilian and military command, and the fatal futility of the attrition of trench combat. As he delivered his talks in the prison camp, French soldiers at the front were showing what they thought of their generals’ tactics by mutinying against orders to continue a failed offensive on the River Aisne in which 100,000 men were killed or wounded. They were not refusing to participate in the war, simply rebelling against losing their lives in hopeless attacks across no-man’s-land.




    Pétain was appointed as France’s commander-in-chief in May to replace the architect of the disaster on the Aisne, Robert Nivelle. His first directive suspended large-scale attacks in depth. He then instituted a system of longer and more regular periods of leave. Though 23,000 men were found guilty of mutinous behaviour by courts martial and forty-nine were reported to have been shot, Pétain emerged with the reputation of a military leader who cared for his men, to add to the halo he had acquired at Verdun. In his prison-camp lectures, de Gaulle described his former chief as ‘exceptional’. But he reserved greater praise for Joffre and the supreme Allied commander, Ferdinand Foch, a man of brilliance and self-belief that some thought verged on madness; during one battle he sent a message stating, ‘My centre is giving way, my right is retreating. Situation excellent. I am attacking.’70




    The transfer for which de Gaulle had been hoping took place in July 1917, when he was moved to the heavily guarded, moated castle of Rosenberg on a mountain cliff in Franconia. There, he received regular food parcels from his mother sent through the prisoners-of-war office in Switzerland; one neatly typed list of contents recorded the dispatch of a kilo of smoked bacon, 500 grams of sausage, tins of corned and braised beef and cassoulet, as well as condensed milk, chocolate, peas and rabbit stew. In his letters to her, he evolved a code using the first letter of each line to spell out what he wanted – civilian clothes or implements hidden in the false bottoms of tins of provisions.




    On the night of 15 October 1917, a huge rainstorm broke over the castle. Calculating that this would keep the guards in their shelters, an escape group made up of de Gaulle and four other officers crossed the two moats and dropped a rope made of sheets down the forty-metre cliff beyond the outer wall. Four of them got down from there. De Gaulle was lowered after he explained that he was ‘physically incapable of climbing down a smooth rope more than a few yards’ – presumably on account of his height. The man who had held the rope volunteered to stay behind.




    Cold and tired, the four escapees walked towards the Swiss border – as they did so, the French launched an offensive which led to the end of the battle of Verdun. After ten days, the Frenchmen stopped to rest in a pigeon loft. Farmers spotted them and alerted a soldier guarding Russian prisoners working in the nearby fields. The quartet was caught and taken back to the camp.




    This fresh failure did nothing to deter de Gaulle from trying to get free once more. He made three further escape bids, the last in a laundry basket, but was recaptured each time. After one breakout, he was kept in solitary confinement for 120 days, deprived of light, heating and books, and put on survival rations. He also spent a short time in an ordinary jail after insulting a policeman who detained him.71




    Among the other prisoners at Ingolstadt was the celebrated airman Roland Garros, who had more luck than de Gaulle in escaping back to France in early 1918 and rejoining the air force, only to be shot down and killed a month before the end of the fighting. Also in the camp was a Russian officer, Mikhail Tukhachevsky, son of tsarist nobility, who also made repeated attempts to escape and with whom, according to a fellow prisoner, de Gaulle shared a cell for a time. Tukhachevsky played mournful airs on his violin, spouted nihilist beliefs and inveighed against Jews as dogs who ‘spread their fleas throughout the world’. On his fifth escape attempt, the twenty-four-year-old hothead got free and found his way back to Russia. Before he left, his French companions warned him that, as an aristocrat, he risked being shot by the Bolsheviks. ‘Shot?’ Tukhachevsky is said to have replied. ‘I shall be a general at twenty-five.’ He almost hit his target and then became head of the Red Army at the age of thirty-two. At a reunion dinner on a visit to Paris after the war, which de Gaulle attended, he is said to have remarked that he would not see them again since this time he would indeed face death when he returned home. In 1937, Stalin had him executed on the basis of forged German documents made to show that he was involved in a conspiracy with the Nazis.72




    De Gaulle’s character was by now already clear. One day in the camp, he asked a fellow prisoner, Ferdinand Plessy: ‘Did you know that, fundamentally, I am a shy man?’ Plessy thought that this hardly fitted with the captain’s ‘natural ascendancy and outstanding eloquence’. Still, as Plessy recalled, ‘he knew how to keep people at a distance. All the other young men called one another tu. Nobody every said tu to de Gaulle.’ They referred to him as ‘the Commander’, ‘Marshal of France’ or the sobriquet accorded in Arras, ‘the Constable’.




    But then Plessy thought of de Gaulle’s remark in a different context. The shower room for prisoners was an open space. So, as Plessy recalled, ‘I became acquainted with the anatomy of all my companions . . . All except one: de Gaulle. What time did he choose to wash by himself? I never thought about it, but the fact is there – I never saw de Gaulle naked.’ This reticence remained with him; his son recalled that his father would emerge from his bedroom fully dressed, complete with his necktie.




    In his notebooks, de Gaulle honed his vision of the great man he intended to be. He wrote of the attributes a true chief had to nurture – the need to dominate himself and pay attention to small elements of everyday behaviour, as well as the importance of keeping his counsel and of developing a mystique. ‘One must speak little,’ he argued. ‘In action one must say nothing. The chief is the one who does not speak.’ It was plain whom he saw in the role of the chief. As he remarked much later to his aide-de-camp, Claude Guy: ‘I always thought that I would be at the head of the state one day. Yes, that always seemed to me evident.’73




    *




    In November 1917, Georges Clemenceau, ‘the Tiger’, became Prime Minister of France. His call for ‘total war’ appealed to the Right while his republican anti-clericalism made him acceptable to the Left. The Bolshevik Revolution had taken Russia out of the conflict but the entry of the United States in April 1917 introduced a new element. As the war moved towards its end, de Gaulle fell into one of the low moods that would characterise him, often at moments when he should have been happy. In this case, he could not get over his absence from the coming victory. ‘I am buried alive,’ he wrote to his father. ‘The other day, I read in some paper that prisoners returning to France were called “ghosts” . . . I have no illusions, I, too, shall be no more than a “ghost”.’




    On 1 December 1918, three weeks after the German surrender, he returned to France, having borrowed 1.90 francs from a lieutenant to upgrade his railway ticket. At his father’s house in the Dordogne he met up with his three brothers who had also been in the army; miraculously, they had all survived, which their mother called ‘an exceptional mark of divine favour’. They were photographed together in uniform and boots, all holding white gloves. Charles stands to attention, cigarette in hand.




    He dismissed Germany’s signature on the Versailles Treaty in June 1919 as ‘a bad joke’. The peace agreement would be ‘no more than a bad cover thrown over unrealised ambitions, hatreds that are more alive than ever, national angers that are not extinguished’, he forecast. The ‘odious’ enemy would recover and become more arrogant. France’s strength would be reduced by demobilisation and the return home of British and American troops. So his country had to hold on to the Rhineland territory occupied under the Versailles agreement, ensure that it had the world’s top army, be ready to fight anew if necessary – and increase the birth rate.




    His personal problem was that he had little chance to shine. He was posted to a military school for returned officers at Saint-Maixent-l’École in western France, a village he described as a dump. He fretted at the ‘ocean of stupidity, laziness and administrative insolence’ around him. The only silver lining was that the ‘general lassitude’ of his colleagues ‘will, I am sure, enable me to separate myself with little ado from the sad pack,’ he wrote home. His colonel told him: ‘With the fine things you have done already, you can have a very good future if you wish.’ All that was needed was a chance to get into action and to prove that he was no ghost.74




    IV


    Warsaw interlude




    De Gaulle got his chance of action in France’s next military enterprise, to help defend Poland from the advance of the Bolshevik Red Army led by his former fellow prisoner Tukhachevsky, and to impose stability on central and eastern Europe. Answering a call for volunteers from the War Ministry in Paris in February 1919, he joined a force whose numbers were planned to reach 150,000 men but never got anywhere near that. His rank was automatically raised to major in the Chasseurs Polonai which had fought alongside the Allies on the Western Front.




    In recreating the central European nation which had been partitioned between Russia, Prussia and the Austro-Hungarian Empire at the end of the eighteenth century, the Treaty of Versailles followed the American policy of self-determination for the peoples of Europe, while also erecting buffer states on Germany’s eastern flank, including Poland with its twenty-seven million people. The country was in a parlous condition. ‘In parts there had been seven invasions and seven destructive retreats,’ wrote the American Herbert Hoover on a relief mission there. ‘Many hundreds of thousands had died of starvation. The homes of millions had been destroyed and the people in those areas were living in hovels.’




    Poland’s President, Josef Pilsudski, was an ardent nationalist whose adventurous career had taken him through spells as a socialist propagandist, urban fighter, leader of a spectacular cash robbery from a mail train and head of a Polish legion during the war, before being imprisoned by the Germans. Lenin saw him as a tool of Western imperialists, and calculated that, if the Red Army could march through Poland, the way would be open to spread revolution into the heartland of Europe, in particular in Germany. For France and Britain, this highly alarming prospect called for the dispatch of military advisers, while they also encouraged White Russian forces to try to undo the revolution of 1917.75




    De Gaulle’s first impression of Poland was uninspiring. He found it lacking in features of interest and consisting of big, flat, sandy plains. The weather was cold and wet. He wrote to his parents that he and his colleagues were very uncomfortable because ‘everything is very dilapidated and empty of furniture after so many comings and goings of Russians, Boches, Jews’. He lost two thousand-mark notes, two pairs of shoes and most of his linen in a burglary; asking his mother for a loan, he said he was ‘furious, humiliated and very embarrassed’.




    But ‘confidence in myself and the future has returned,’ he added. He must also have been encouraged by the award of the Légion d’honneur in August 1919, for his bravery at Verdun; Pétain signed the order bestowing the decoration. The following month, he took the train to Paris to attend the wedding of his brother, Xavier, who had become an engineer; for the occasion, he spent eight hundred francs on a new uniform with red breeches and a ‘Burberry’ coat. The marriage may have stirred his own feelings about his future; in a letter to his mother that November, he expressed hope that the coming year would bring him ‘a family, and in the tranquillity of a deep and sanctified love the power to give to another all the happiness that a man can give’.




    Though he complained repeatedly about the cost of living, de Gaulle found Warsaw very lively, filled with refugees from the Bolsheviks ‘who, despite their misfortunes, amuse themselves frenetically’. The leading families ‘receive us even more than we would have wanted,’ he noted. His letter home with his impressions of Warsaw contained a paragraph from which a word or two was excised in the collection of his letters issued in 1980. ‘In the middle of all this,’ he wrote, ‘countless . . . detested to death by all classes of society, all enriched by the war from which they have profited on the backs of the Russians, Boches and Poles, and pretty much ready for a social revolution from which they will draw a lot of money in exchange for some bad deeds’. The reference to the Jews is inescapable, even if the editors chose to impose political correctness.




    De Gaulle’s job was to train Polish officers in French military methods at a huge nineteenth-century fortress at Modlin, fifty kilometres north of Warsaw. His lectures were admired, but he longed to be sent to the front, though he described the fighting as a joke in which each side simply took turns to advance. Frustrated, he went home in April 1920; but there was no job for him in France, so he returned to Warsaw in June as chief assistant to the commander of the French military mission, General Niessel. The journey east provoked a fresh complaint about the expense of everything; he told his mother, who had loaned him five hundred francs, that train seats and baggage transport ‘give rise literally to exploitation’.
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